
Please ask for  Sian Hall: Telephone (01362) 656381 
e-mail: sian.hall@breckland.gov.uk 

 

 
AGENDA 

 

NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only 

 
 
 

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT APOLICY DEVELOPMENT APOLICY DEVELOPMENT APOLICY DEVELOPMENT AND ND ND ND 

REVIEW PANEL 3REVIEW PANEL 3REVIEW PANEL 3REVIEW PANEL 3 

Date & Time - TUESDAY, 12TH JUNE, 2007 AT 10.00 AM 

Venue - GALLERY BAR, WATTON SPORTS HALL, 
WATTON 

 
 

 

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least two 

working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is available, this 
will be provided, and reported to Committee. 

 
 

Panel 3 Members: 
  
Mr R.G. Kybird (Chairman) 
Mr P.J. Duigan 
Mrs S.R. Howard-Alpe (Vice-
Chairman) 
Mrs D.K.R. Irving 
Mr R. Kemp 
 

Mr J.P. Labouchere 
Mr B. Rose 
Mr F.J. Sharpe 
Mr M. Spencer 
 

 

 
 
Committee Services 

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING 

ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE ARE REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE 

TELEPHONESTELEPHONESTELEPHONESTELEPHONES    

Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE 
 

 

Date: Friday, 1 June 2007  
 
 

Public Document Pack



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
12 June 2007 

 

 

2 

 
PART A 

 
ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC 

 

 Page(s) 
herewith 

 

1. MINUTES  1 - 11 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 20 March 2007 and the 
Joint Meeting held with Panel 1 on the 6 March 2007.  
 

 

2. APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   

 Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda.  The Members’ Code of 
Conduct requires that declarations include the nature of the interest and 
whether it is a personal or prejudicial interest.  
 

 

4. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING   

 To note the names of any non-members wishing to address the meeting.  
 

 

5. HEALTH IMPROVEMENT WORK PROGRAMME  12 - 24 

 Report of the Operations Manager – Commercial and Community 
Services.   
 

 

6. BIG LOTTERY CHILDREN'S PLAY  25 - 59 

 Report of the Operations Manager – Commercial and Community 
Services. 
  

 

7. WORK PROGRAMME AND FUTURE MEETINGS  60 

 To agree dates for future meetings.  
 

 

8. NEXT MEETING   

 To note that the next meeting of Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
will be held on 10 July 2007 at 10.00 am.  
 

 

 



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
12 June 2007 

 

 

3 

PROTOCOL 
 

The Working Style of the Policy Development & Review Panels 
 

This document sets out the roles of Members and Officers, and the general principles to be adopted 
by the Policy Development & Review Panels (PD&RP) overseeing the Panel’s mode of operation. 
 
Member Leadership 
Members of the Panel will undertake scrutiny topics as directed by the Overview & Scrutiny 
Commission (O&SC) and will recognise that best practice identifies scrutiny as a Member-led activity. 
The Panel will expect Cabinet members, to take responsibility for answering their questions about 
topics which primarily relate to the Council’s activities. 
 
A Constructive Atmosphere 
Meetings of the Panel will be constructive and not judgmental. Panel recognises and accepts that 
effective scrutiny is best achieved through challenging and constructive enquiry. People giving 
evidence at Panel should be given due respect and not made to feel under attack. 
 
Independence  
Members of the PD&RP will not be subject to whipping arrangements by the party groups. 
 
Respect and Trust 
Meetings will be conducted in a spirit of mutual respect and trust. 
 
Consensus 
Members of the Panel will work together and, while recognising political allegiances, will attempt to 
achieve consensus and agreed recommendations. There will be recognition that the Panel has a 
primary duty to scrutinise on behalf of the community. 
 
Openness and Transparency 
The PD&RP’s business will be open and transparent, except where there are sound reasons for 
protecting confidentiality. The minutes of the Panel’s meetings will explain the discussion and debate 
so that they can be understood by an outside reader. 
 
Impartial and Independent Officer Advice 
Officers who advise and support the Panel will give impartial and independent advice, as officers 
support all members of the Council. 
 
Regular Review 
There will be regular reviews of how the scrutiny process is working, and a willingness to change if it 
is not working effectively. 
 
Programming and Planning  
The Panel will have a programme of work assigned by the Overview & Scrutiny Commission. The 
Panel will be able to suggest additional topics for review through the O&SC for approval in the work 
programme. Before each topic is commenced, the O&SC will agree the scope of the exercise, what 
information they will need initially, and which members, officers and external witnesses they wish to 
see. 
 
Managing Time 
The Panel will aim to conclude the business of each meeting in reasonable time. The order of 
business will be arranged as far as possible to minimise the demands on the time of witnesses. 
Where possible, members should give advance notice of specific questions being provided at the time 
of the meeting to save items being deferred. 
 



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
20 March 2007 

 

 
 

BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of the 
 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANEL 3 
 

Held on Tuesday, 20 March 2007 at 10.15 a.m.  
at Level 8, Breckland House, Thetford 

 

PRESENT: 
 

Kybird,  Mr R.G. (Chairman) Labouchere,  Mr J.P 
Goreham, Mrs L. Rose, Mr B 
Howard-Alpe, Mrs. S Wickham, Mr D. H. 
Kemp, Mr R.  
 

IN ATTENDANCE: 

Brennan, Mrs  A. - Strategic Housing Manager 
Broughton, Mr M. - Scrutiny Officer 
Burrows, Mr N. - Principal Environmental Health Officer 
Hall, Miss S. - Senior Committee Officer 

 
  Action By 

17/07 THETFORD LEISURE CENTRE SITE VISIT  

 Preceding the meeting the Panel had undertaken a site visit to view 
the newly constructed extension to Thetford Leisure Centre and were 
most impressed with the facility. 

 

18/07 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)  

 The minutes of the meeting held on 27 February 2007 were confirmed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

 

19/07 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2)  

 Apologies for absence were received from Messrs T. J. Lamb and F. 
Sharpe 

 

20/07 ADOPTION OF ‘GAMBLING POLICY’ AND IMPLEMENTATION OF 
THE GAMBLING ACT 2005 (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

 

 The Principal Environmental Health Officer presented a report which 
updated Members on the progress of the introduction of the Gambling 
Act 2005. 

 

 Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 required all Licensing 
Authorities to prepare and publish a Statement of Principles (Gambling 
Policy) that would apply within their area for exercising their functions 
under the Act.  

 

 

 

  

 

Agenda Item 1

1



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
20 March 2007 

 

 
 

  Action By 

 The Policy stated that the three licensing objectives which have to be 
promoted will be:  

 

 • Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder; 
being associated with crime and disorder or being used to 
support crime. 

 

 • Ensuring that gambling was being conducted in a fair and open 
way. 

 

 • Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling. 

 

 Premises and activities affected by the Act include the following:  

 •  Casinos 

•  Bingo Premises 

•  Betting Premises 

•  Betting Tracks 

•  Adult Gaming Centres 

•  Family Entertainment Centres 

•  Other permissions including club gaming permits, prize 
gaming permits, temporary use notices and the registration 
of small society lotteries. 

 

 Following thorough consultation the Statement of Principles (Policy) 
was adopted by Council on 4 January 2007.  

 

 As a result of the Government delaying the release of all the 
information needed to implement the Gambling Act the timescales for 
its introduction had slipped from the initial date of February 2007 to 
May 2007, at the earliest. 

 

 The Licensing Team had identified the following matters which would 
need to be implemented in the next few months. 

 

 • The training of staff and members in a completely new function, 
much of this was ongoing or planned. 

 

 • Preparation of effective guidance material for applicants.  

 • Adoption of licence fees.  These would be set in bands by the 
Government with the Council’s General Purpose Committee 
determining the precise fee for each application, hopefully May 
2007. 

 

 • Identification of premises and activities affected within 
Breckland’s area.  Many of these have had advisory visits 
already and our rough estimate of number of applications would 
be: 

 

2



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
20 March 2007 

 

 
 

  Action By 

 o  Bingo Halls – 1 

o  Family Entertainment Centres (FECs) – 6 

o  Bookmakers – 11 

o  Small Society Lotteries – 220 

o  Club Gaming Permits – 36 

o  Gaming permits for machines in premises with alcohol 
license – approx 150 

 

 The Principal Environmental Health Officer responded to Members’ 
queries as follows: 

 

 • The fees set by the Government would not include set-up costs 
but would include the administering of the licence.  It wasn’t yet 
certain but there may be some one off funding forthcoming from 
the Government. 

 

 • Small Society Lotteries were for good causes and as such the 
set-up fee was currently £35.00 followed by £17.50 for 
subsequent years.  It was envisaged that the fee may by raised 
to £40.00 for the first year followed by £20.00 per year for 
subsequent years.  The lotteries were requested to present their 
accounts each year to prove that the money raised was being 
given to the intended charitable trust.  The fund raisers had been 
advised of the changes and would not be made to pay for a new 
licence until their current licence ran out in January 2008.   

 

 • Adult Gaming Centres were establishments which provided 
gaming machines for age 18 and over.  Family Entertainment 
Centres had a mixture of machines; although if an FEC had over 
18 machines they must be in a separate area.  There were 
difference levels of gaming machines depending on the amount 
of money which could be won. 

 

 • Premises such as hotels, snooker halls, taxi cab offices, 
takeaways etc would not be permitted to have a gaming 
machine.  Only premises which had a separate bar serving 
alcohol would be permitted to hold a gaming machine licence. 
However, premises which currently had a permit for a gaming 
machine would be able to keep that machine until the permit had 
expired.   

 

 • With regard to raffles there would not be a need to licence a 
village hall raffle.  Licences would only be needed where the 
prize fund was above a certain level. 

 

 Concern was raised with regard to the Government delaying the 
release of all information needed to implement the Gambling Act and 
the affect this could have on the Licensing Team’s work load. 

 

 Members thanked the Principal Environmental Health Officers for the 
update. 

 

 RESOLVED that information be noted.   

3



Policy Development and Review Panel 3 
20 March 2007 

 

 
 

  Action By 

21/07 HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY (AGENDA ITEM 7)  

 The Strategic Housing Manager submitted a report which Members 
were requested to recommend the adoption of the Housing Allocations 
Policy on an interim basis. 

 

 As the Council was currently re-tendering the contract to administer 
the housing register on the Council’s behalf an Allocations Policy 
covering Breckland District Council needed to be in place prior to the 
commencement of the new contract. 

 

 It was proposed that the Policy be adopted on an interim basis as the 
move to a Choice Based Letting in 2007/08 would necessitate a new 
allocations policy and scheme being adopted.  Extensive consultation 
would be undertaken with Members, local communities, statutory and 
non-statutory key stakeholders as part of this process. 

 

 The local connection aspect of the housing register would be was an 
important issue as it was understood that communities wanted to see 
local housing going to local people. 

 

 If Parish and Town Councils wanted to see housing developments 
being allocated to local people then this should form part of their 
comments when discussing planning proposals. 

 

 The housing register would be one single point of reference for all 
Registered Social Landlords within Breckland. 

 

 Members agreed to recommend the adoption of the Plan to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Commission. 

 

 RESOLVED that the Overview and Scrutiny Commission 
recommend the approval of the Breckland Housing Allocations 
Policy. 

Anita 
Brennan 

22/07 WORK PROGRAMME AND FUTURE MEETING DATES (AGENDA 
ITEM 9) 

 

 The Scrutiny Officer took Members through the work programme and 
meeting schedule, as detailed in the report.  It was agreed to add the 
following to the work programme:- 

 

 • Housing Allocations Policy  

23/07 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 8)  

 It was noted that the next two meetings of Policy Development and 
Review Panel 3 would be held on 12 June 2007 and provisionally 10 
July 2007 both at 10.00 a.m., venue to be agreed. 

All to note 
revised time. 

 
The meeting closed at 11.50 am  
 

CHAIRMAN 
  

4



Policy Development and Review Panels 1 & 3 
6 March 2007 

 
BRECKLAND COUNCIL 

At a JOINT MEETING of  

POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANELS 1 AND 3 
 

Held on Tuesday, 6 March 2007 at 2.00 pm 
The Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Dereham 

 
PRESENT  

Panel 1 Members Panel 3 Members 
Mr P Cowen (Chairman) Mr R Kybird (Chairman) 
Mr P Duigan (Vice-Chairman) Mrs L Goreham 
Mr A Joel Mrs S Howard-Alpe (Vice-Chairman) 
Mr R Key Mr J Labouchere 
Mr J Rogers Mr T Lamb 
Mrs P Spencer Mr B Rose 
 Mr F Sharpe 

 
Also present  

Mr A Stasiak - Executive Member 
 

In attendance  

Anita Brennan - Strategic Housing Manager 
Julie Britton - Committee Officer 
James Campbell - Planning Policy Officer 
Paul Cason - Principal Housing Officer 
Andrea Long - Environmental Planning Manager 
David Spencer - Principal Planning Policy Officer 
Ian Vargeson - Democratic Services Manager 
Lee Webster - Enabling Projects Officer 

 
  

- The Chairman of Policy Development & Review Panel 1,  Mr 
Phillip Cowen, in the Chair - 

Action by 

19/07 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1)  

 Apologies for absence were received from Messrs S Askew, K Martin 
and I Monson. 

 

20/07 DECLARATION OF INTEREST (AGENDA ITEM 3)  

 Mr P Cowen declared a personal but non-prejudicial interest in 
Agenda item 5.  The interest related to him being an architect. 

 

 Mr R Kybird declared a personal but non-prejudicial interest in Agenda 
item 5. The nature of his interest related to him being a builder and 
advising his clients accordingly. 

 

5



Policy Development and Review Panels 1 & 3 
6 March 2007 

 

21/07 BRECKLAND LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK – (AGENDA 
ITEM 5) 

 

 a) Introduction  

  The Strategic Housing Manager set out the reasons for the 
 commissioning of the Housing Market Study.  The Housing 
 Needs Assessment undertaken in 2002 had concluded that there 
 was a need in Breckland for 600 additional units of affordable 
 housing per year.  With this figure in mind the Researchers had 
 now suggested that developers should provide 40% of affordable 
 housing instead of 30% on all new planning applications.  This, 
 combined with lowering the threshold numbers, would make a 
 significant dent in the affordable housing need.  It had further 
 been suggested that development of such sites be provided
 outside settlement boundaries of villages and towns. 

 

  The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2007) (SHMA) was 
 presented to Members in three parts.  The first part being a 
 presentation from Dr Fordham of Fordham Associates followed 
 by the two reports highlighted at (c) and (d) below.  

 

 b) Presentation  

  The Chairman thanked Dr Richard Fordham, of Fordham 
 Associates, for attending the meeting. 

 

  Paper copies of the presentation were circulated; the presentation 
 would also be made available on the Extranet. 

 

  Dr Fordham welcomed the opportunity to explain in detail the 
 definition of each slide contained in the presentation (attached to 
 these Minutes as an appendix).  

 

  Breckland Council had now received a SHMA, which would 
 inform future strategic housing policy in Breckland including the 
 housing elements of the policy framework in the Local 
 Development Framework (LDF).  The  SHMA for the Rural East 
 Anglia Partnership (REAP) covered Breckland, King’s Lynn and 
 North Norfolk Districts.  Individual Housing Needs Surveys (HNS) 
 for each District underpinned the overall sub-regional Housing 
 Market Assessment.   This was the first SHMA for Breckland and 
 would supersede the HNS produced in 2002.   

 

  It was explained that property market forces and land supply  
 were in a constant state of flux and inevitably therefore, 
 assessments of viability would change over relatively short 
 periods of time.  Accordingly, Official Government Guidance 
 required Authorities to produce its data to include all areas and all 
 tenures, and to allow for such variations to be included. 

 

  Dr Fordham reminded Members that PPS3 was revolutionary as 
 it would allow authorities a greater degree of flexibility in 
 determining different housing types and numbers throughout the 

 

6



Policy Development and Review Panels 1 & 3 
6 March 2007 

 
 District. 

  Dr Fordham explained how the final targets had been derived and 
 how in viability terms the provision of 40% of affordable housing 
 was considered more impracticable rather than the further 
 suggested 45%.  He concluded by saying that the evidence found 
 from this study supported the needs of Breckland. 

 

  Following the presentation, Dr Fordham responded to Members 
 questions and concerns as follows: 

 

 • Could the Council request that out of every two dwellings 
built one should be affordable? 

 

 Developers frequently asked for sites of two or three units to avoid the 
affordable housing threshold.  There was no reason at all that this 
Council could not request one affordable dwelling in two.  However, 
the policy might not be effective.  This could succeed if the one in two 
was an intermediate dwelling. 

 

 • Had the survey taken into account the restoration of empty 
dwellings? 

 

 The survey had not included vacant dwellings, as it was known that 
Breckland had not many of these properties. 

 

 • The average household income within Breckland was 
considered to be less than the rest of the country.  This was 
why it was difficult for young people to get on the housing 
ladder.  How had the financial capacity figures been derived? 

 

 All the figures listed in the Financial Capability slide had been based 
on a household income. 

 

 • Would the Government be releasing vast amounts of money 
to enable all these affordable dwellings to be built if the 40% 
threshold was agreed? 

 

 It was already a Government requirement that anyone who built ten 
dwellings or more had to contribute a sum towards affordable housing. 

 

 • Would it affect land values?  

 In 1991 the Government had decreed that all new developments had 
to provide an element of affordable housing which would then affect 
the cost of the land.  For example, the land owner had nothing to gain 
as the cost of the land to the developer would be reduced depending 
on the number of affordable housing units built.   

 

 • The viability index seems to work on nil marginal costs.  
Would that discourage landowners to put forward their land? 

 

 Landowners would want to sell their land sooner rather than later if the 
prospect of land values, in time, were to decrease. 

 

7



Policy Development and Review Panels 1 & 3 
6 March 2007 

 

 • Would roads and schools etc attract planning gains?  

 Sites of 80 dwellings or more attracted planning gains for roads and 
schools etc, was based on a tariff policy. 

 

 The Strategic Housing Manager felt that there should be more 
information provided on special needs cases in Breckland.  She knew 
that there was an extreme shortage of three bed housing for people 
with physical disabilities. 

 

 In response to a Member’s question, the Strategic Housing Manager 
advised that Audit Inspectors had criticised the current 30% affordable 
housing target as it was felt to be insufficient.  Therefore, it was 
extremely important to support the suggested 40% target.  

 

 Members noted that the total figure of 1,180 on the ‘Balancing the 
Housing Market’ slide was based on an annual figure. 

 

 The Chairman asked about the designated housing numbers for 
Breckland and what would remain for the rest of the District after 
Thetford’s quota of affordable housing had been taken out of the 
equation. In response to this concern, Dr Fordham advised that there 
were two ways around this problem; firstly, Breckland Council could 
build more than the current predicted target figure of 965 affordable 
housing units per year to address the supply and demand issues; or 
secondly, instead of building the number of allocated affordable 
dwellings just in the Thetford area, Breckland Council could spread 
them out around the District.  

 

 The Chairman thanked Dr Fordham for his time and for his informative 
presentation. 

 

 c) Rural East Anglia Partnership – Housing Market Assessment 
(2007) and Breckland Housing Needs Survey (2007) 

 

  The Rural East Anglia Partnership – Housing Market Assessment 
 (2007) and Breckland Housing Needs Survey (2007 (second 
 draft) was circulated at the meeting. 

 

  Members’ attention was drawn to paragraphs 6 and 7 of the 
 report. 

 

  Paragraph 6 provided Members with the assessment of 
 affordable housing need in Breckland.  The gross need for 
 affordable housing in Breckland over the next five years was 
 1,532 per annum.  Allowing for social re-lets and new builds, the 
 net affordable housing requirement was 965 units per year.  This 
 compared to the annual requirement of 600 units identified in the 
 previous 2002 Housing Needs Survey undertaken in 2002.  The 
 965 units a year equated to 743 social rented units (via 
 Registered Social Landlord) and 222 intermediate need units 
 (shared equity).   

 

8



Policy Development and Review Panels 1 & 3 
6 March 2007 

 

  Paragraph 7 provided Members with the policy implications.  
 Based on the evidence  from the Housing Need Survey an 
 affordable housing target of either 40% or 45% had been 
 recommended.  40% required 2,412 new market dwellings per 
 year.  In the last ten years Breckland had only been able to 
 achieve a figure of 855.  45% was considered to be a step too far, 
 where 40% provided a pragmatic option. 

 

  The timetable for the LDF required that a set of detailed draft 
 affordable housing policies were to be formally agreed in June 
 2007 for consultation during the summer.  There would be an 
 opportunity to refine the policy after consultation before 
 submitting the Strategy and Policies document of the LDF at the 
 end of 2007. 

 

  The policy implications of the Assessment would be deliberated 
 through the Policy Development and Review Panel 1. 

 

  As far as exception sites were concerned, the Principal Planning 
 Policy Officer felt that this specific policy should remain in the 
 LDF. 

 

  The report was noted.  

 d) Affordable Housing Thresholds Site Viability Study – January 
2007 

 

  The Affordable Housing Threshold Site Viability Study was the 
 first of its kind to have been produced in Norfolk.  It supported a 
 policy approach of lower thresholds and demonstrated that 40% 
 on sites of three or more was viable, particularly in the rural 
 areas, with viability becoming more achievable on sites of five or 
 more in the towns.  Officers had advised that a new indicative 
 threshold of three units across the District should be examined 
 through the LDF process as the basis for policy development. 

 

  Table 1 on page 8 of the report illustrated residual values.  With a 
 40% affordable housing contribution there remained a positive 
 value across all sites of 3, 5, 10, 15 and 80 dwellings.  At 45% 
 negative values start to emerge on small sites of five dwellings or 
 less. 

 

  It had been proposed that a number of options should be 
 explored as part of the consultation on the LDF (programmed for 
 March and July 2007). 

 

  Option1 – introduce blanket thresholds seeking 40% affordable 
 housing on sites of 3 or more houses across the District. 

 

  Option 2 – introduce blanket thresholds seeking 45% affordable 
 housing on sites of 10 or more across the District. 

 

  Option 3 – introduce a policy requiring either 40% or 45% on all 
 sites over 15 dwellings with a sliding scale policy for smaller sites 

 

9



Policy Development and Review Panels 1 & 3 
6 March 2007 

 
 of 3 dwellings up to 15 dwellings (using table 7.3 on page 27 of 
 Appendix A of the report). 

  A Member felt disappointed that there was not an option to 
 remain as we were.  In response, the Chairman advised that the 
 Officers had given their views as to why there was a need to 
 increase the thresholds, all options must be explored.  The 
 research that had been carried out had been fairly 
 comprehensive; however, in the Chairman’s opinion, a further 
 option should be added to take into account empty property 
 numbers. 

 

  A Member asked whether planning applications being submitted 
 during the time frame between the end of the Local Plan and the 
 beginning of the LDF would be working on the new percentage 
 threshold or the former.  In response, the Principal Planning 
 Officer advised that from 1 April 2007, PPS3 would supersede 
 what was defined in the current Local Plan; however, in the 
 meantime, the Council would continue to work with the 30% 
 threshold. 

 

  Another Member felt that the three options available should 
 include a preference of whether affordable housing should be 
 built on greenfield or brownfield sites. 

 

  Another suggestion put forward was that there should be further 
 properties built for the elderly particularly in Attleborough.  The 
 Executive Member said that PPS3 should address this as the 
 Council would now be able to direct the developer to that 
 particular  need. 

 

  The Chairman advised that PPS3 had, indeed, provided the 
 Council with greater powers but, in his opinion, the Council, 
 should not be too prescriptive.  He felt that there was  a two and 
 three bed property shortage but further felt that larger  properties
 should continue to be built as the people who purchased them 
 would bring the wealth to the District.  The Council had to strike a 
 balance, at this present time Breckland had been building too 
 many of the wrong houses in the wrong places.  A Member 
 agreed with these comments, he said the Council could build as 
 many two bed houses as it liked and they would be filled, but the 
 wealth would not be brought with them. 

 

  The Chairman urged Officers to do what they could to bring 
 empty houses back into use.  The Strategic Housing Manager 
 advised that it was not as easy as Members thought.  Empty 
 dwellings were spread across the district; unlike Great Yarmouth 
 that had rows of empty terraces on its doorstep. 

 

  The report was noted.  

 The Chairman requested that a letter be sent to Dr Fordham thanking 
him for his attendance. 

Committee Officer 

 

10



Policy Development and Review Panels 1 & 3 
6 March 2007 

 
The meeting closed at 3.30pm 

CHAIRMAN 
 

11



 
BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW PANEL 3 – 12 June 2007  
 
REPORT OF THE OPERATIONS MANAGER –COMMERCIAL AND COMMUNTY 
SERVICES 
 (Author: Martin Seymour, Health Improvement Officer )       
 

HEALTH IMPROVEMENT WORK PROGRAMME 
 

Summary:  The report provides an update on the work of the Health Improvement Officer 
concentrating on aspects of the programme and considers the role of a Breckland Health 
and Wellbeing Partnership 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Health Improvement work programme sets out the activities and interventions 

that will be undertaken to achieve the broad aims set out under the Health theme in 
the Community Plan for Breckland. This report provides at update on progress on the 
work programme and discusses the role of the proposed Health and Well-being 
Forum. 

 
1.2  The Breckland LSP approved a report proposing that we establish a Health and 

Wellbeing Partnership as required under the Strong and Prosperous Communities 
White Paper.  This paper will discuss to potential role of this forum in relation to the 
Panel. 

 
2. KEY DECISION 
 
2.1 This is not a key decision. 
 
3. COUNCIL PRIORITIES 
 
3.1 The matters raised in this report fall within the following Council priorities:  
 

• A safe and healthy environment 

• A well planned place to live which encourages vibrant communities 

• A prosperous place to live and work 
 
4. HEALTH IMPROVEMENT WORK PROGRAMME  
 
4.1 The Health Improvement Work Programme, progress report to June 2007 is attached 

at Appendix A.  A presentation on key aspects of the programme will be given at the 
meeting. 

 
4.2 Within the Strong and Prosperous Communities White Paper the Government 

introduced proposals to legislate for new Health and Wellbeing Partnerships that will 
sit under LSPs and enable local agencies to achieve a more integrated approach to 
the delivery of local health priorities.  The Breckland LSP Board in February 2007 
supported the formation of a new Health and Wellbeing Partnership to sit under the 
umbrella of the Breckland LSP Board and provide a new forum to complement 
existing thematic arrangements. 

 
4.3 The Partnership will not replace or duplicate any existing arrangements as there is 

currently no health or culture thematic group meeting in Breckland LSP.  The focus on 
health will be broad and will incorporate general wellbeing and quality of life issues, 
e.g. leisure opportunities and older people’s services.  

 

Agenda Item 5

12



4.4 The proposal is that the Health and Wellbeing Partnership will act as an over-arching 
local network that feeds into the LSP Board and provides strategic coordination on 
health issues in Breckland, linking with other plans and bodies established at a 
regional, sub-regional and local level.  

 
4.5 Other networks such as the Community Sports Network and the Arts Forum which 

contribute to health and wellbeing will link to and have representation on the Health 
and Wellbeing Partnership.  The Partnership will also be closely aligned to Block 2 of 
the Norfolk Local Area Agreement, which incorporates the Partnership for Older 
People and the Norfolk Public Health Network.  The new Partnership would provide a 
useful structure/mechanism for feeding issues, etc. into the LAA. 

 
4.6 We are concerned to ensure the partnership has a purposeful role in driving the future 

Health Improvement Work Programme, determining priorities based on health needs 
and inequalities, ensuring evidenced based practice and evaluating performance.  As 
a body it should have a holistic view of health and a remit to consider the wider 
determinants of health, as expressed in the model below.  An example of how this 
could be achieved is in suggesting where policies, programmes and actions could be 
subjected to a health impact assessment.   

 

 
 
4.7 There is an opportunity to form links between the Partnership and this Panel and for 

the Panel to have a role in commenting on work priorities, reviewing actions and 
suggesting future role areas.  Elected Member representation on the Partnership will 
be sought. 

 
4.8 It is recommended that a report on progress in establishing the Health and Wellbeing 

partnership be brought to a future meeting of this Panel. 
 
5. OPTIONS AVAILABLE 
 
5.1 This report is for information only 
 

13



6. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
6.1 Members are asked to note to progress being made in this area of work. 
 
6.2 That a future Panel meeting receives a progress report on the Health and Wellbeing 

Partnership. 
 
 
Appendices:  
1 Health Improvement Work Programme –June 2007 update. 
 

Supports Equal Opportunities.  The health improvement work programme aims to 
tackle health inequalities, raising standards of health and wellbeing across the district 
but in particular in those areas of high deprivation and associated poor health. 

 

14



 

Appendix 1 - Health Improvement Work Programme –June 2007 update. 
Introduction 

 
The  Public Health White Paper Choosing Health; Making Healthier Choices Easier, published in November 2004, sets out how the Government 
will aim to make it easier for people to make healthier choices by offering practical advice to adopt healthier lifestyles.  Choosing Health sets out 
steps to prevent unnecessary deaths and to help people who want to be healthier under 3 key principles: 

• Informed choice for all 

• Personalisation of  support to make healthy choices and 

• Working in partnership to make health everyone’s business. 
 
Choosing Health recognises the importance of co-delivery between local government and the NHS in partnership with local communities, business 
and the voluntary and community sectors.  It highlights action over six key priorities for delivery: 

• Tackling health inequalities 

• Reducing the number of people who smoke 

• Tackling obesity 

• Improving sexual health 

• Improving mental health and well-being and  

• Reducing harm and encouraging sensible drinking. 
 
The Department of Health Publication “Health Challenge England – next steps for Choosing Health”  (Department of Health October 2006) sets 
out how the Department has been developing this new approach to public health, which aims to ensure that all sectors of society can contribute to 
the nation’s health. The report is aimed at policy makers across the public, business, voluntary and community sectors; it is hoped it will help 
invigorate and consolidate work already in train on tackling health inequalities and improving health.  
 
Local Priorities 
 
Based on the specific needs of the PCT population and the priority areas identified in Choosing Health the Norfolk PCT health improvement 
priorities are to: 
 
§ Achieve reductions in cardiovascular disease and cancer through: 

§ Reducing smoking; 
§ Encouraging increased levels of physical activity particularly amongst children and older people; 
§ Encouraging healthier eating particularly amongst children and young people. 

§ Target specific interventions to reduce teenage pregnancy and improve mental health in areas of highest deprivation. 
§ Develop a coordinated approach to the management of chronic diseases, including a comprehensive falls prevention programme. 
§ Provide support to carers. 
 

1
5



 

 
These priorities fit well with the Breckland LSP priority “Creating a healthy place to live”.  Breckland Council has identified the reduction of 
coronary heart disease (the major component of circulatory disease) as being a principal target within their Business Plan and has identified the 
following as priorities: 

• Increasing the number of people taking exercise 

• Increasing public understanding of how to eat healthily  
 
Key action areas. 
 
The following key action areas have been identified for inclusion in the LSP Community Plan under the Health theme: 
§ Addressing inequalities in health, focussing on cancer and coronary heart disease. 
§ Working to improve health in schools 
§ Access to information on Health 
§ Raising awareness of Men’s Health Issues 
§ Expanding free of charge exercise opportunities 
§ Promoting workplace health 
§ Promoting Healthier Lifestyles via Healthy eating campaigns 
 
In delivering the above the greatest activity will be focussed on the areas of greatest need to ensure that inequalities in health are reduced and 
that resources are used efficiently. 
 
Lead Organisation 
 
The lead for this work will be through the Health Improvement Officer who is based at Breckland Council.  The post is a joint appointment between 
the Primary Care Trust and the District Council. 
 
Other partners include: 

• Norfolk Public Health Network 

• The Breckland Walking for Health Scheme partners 

• The 5 Area Partnerships 

• Active Norfolk 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1
6



 

Aim 1 Addressing inequalities in health, focussing on cancer, coronary heart disease and obesity. 

 

Work area Action Timescale Partners (Lead) Rationale Progress to June 07 

Targeted 
information with the 
media.   

Ongoing media 
information in line with 
the Health Improvement 
communications plan. 

Ongoing HIO, 
Communications 
Officer, 
PCT Health 
Information Team 

The communications plan 
sets out how we aim to 
target health information 
and media activity and 
how we would utilise 
media opportunities 
arising from national and 
local campaigns. 

Delivery in line with 
Communication Plan 
Regular contribution to Voice 
Magazine. 
Recent positive press report on 
the walking for health 
programme including the new 
pram walks. 
A series of health promotion 
events were held during Watton 
Health Week in May. 

Exercise Referral 
Scheme 

Support the expansion 
of the Exercise Referral 
Scheme with the target 
of increasing the 
number of clients 
referred by 10% 
 
Develop further 
opportunities for 
physical activity 
recommendation to 
operate alongside the 
referral programme. 

Ongoing HIO 
Norfolk PCT 
Parkwood 
Leisure  
Other exercise 
providers 
GP practices 

The scheme currently 
runs from the Councils 
Leisure facilities and a 
number of other 
providers.  There is a 
demand for more referral 
places particularly for 
targeted interventions.   
 
NICE have recently 
issued guidance 
supporting exercise 
referral programmes 
where they are part of a 
research programme. 

Referral protocols have been 
re-drafted and are to be 
distributed to surgeries and 
other referrers in a new 
promotional pack.   
The Parkwood exercise referral 
programme has been revised 
and re-launched at the 
Breckland Leisure Centre and 
has been introduced at the 
Dereham Leisure Centre. 
Training has been provided to 
increase the number of 
exercise referral instructors and 
to increase the skills of existing 
instructors and further training 
will be funded through the 
health improvement budget. 
The number of referrals has 
reduced slightly over the last 
year.  The steps outlined above 
should address this issue. 
 

1
7



 

-Reducing Smoking Promote and support 
the smoking cessation 
service throughout 
Breckland. 
 
 
 

Ongoing Smokefree Norfolk 
Alliance, 
Norfolk Smoking 
Cessation Service 

Smoking remains the 
biggest cause of Cancer 
and CHD and is more 
prevalent amongst lower 
socio-economic groups. 

Continue to promote smoking 
cessation services. 
 

 Deliver a programme of 
support for employers 
and the catering and 
hospitality trade on the 
new Smoke Free Places 
legislation 

July 07 HIO 
Environmental 
Health Officers 
Smoke Free 
Norfolk 

Legislation announced as 
part of the Health Act 
2006.   

Working with the environmental 
health service and other 
partners to coordinate an 
approach to support all 
businesses across Breckland. 
 

 
 

Aim 2 Working to improve Health in Schools 

 

Work area Action Timescale Partners (Lead) Rationale Progress to June ‘07 

Roll out Healthy 
Schools across 
Breckland 

Ongoing partnership with 
Healthy Norfolk Schools 
Scheme to promote the 
programme and support 
schools working towards 
achieving this status. 

Ongoing Healthy Norfolk 
Schools 
Schools 

Healthy Schools 
programme delivers a 
whole school approach to 
improving health of 
children and their 
families. 

Discussed target schools with 
Norfolk Healthy Schools 
New national standards being 
delivered. 
Health Norfolk Schools are a 
partner in the MEND childhood 
obesity programme. 

School Sport Work with school sports 
partnerships to develop a 
health improvement 
activity programme to be 
delivered throughout the 
partnership. 

Ongoing School Sports 
Partnership PDM, 
Sports 
Development 
 

School Sport Partnership 
established in Breckland 
Schools and seeking 
support for their 
community activity aimed 
at increasing participation 
in physical activity. 

Work in this area is also aligned 
to the development of the 
Community Sports Network 
under the lead of the Sports 
Development Officer. 
The school sport partnership is 
a lead partner in the MEND 
programme 

Teenage Health Review the teenage 
health advice services in 
Breckland 
 

Sept ‘07 PCT Teenage 
Sexual Health 
Services 
GP Practices 

National and local targets 
to reduce teenage 
conception and STI’s. 
Demand for services from 

Teenage Health Clinics have 
been established in Dereham, 
Swaffham and Thetford.  The 
Dereham service has been re-

1
8



 

Healthy Norfolk 
Schools 

young people. launched following concerns 
over low use.  The service 
appears now to be more widely 
used.  The Thetford service is 
well used.  
 

 
 
 

Aim 3 Raising awareness of Men’s Health 

 
 

Work area Action Timescale Partners (Lead) Rationale Progress to June 2007 

Providing targeted 
community based 
Men’s Health 
Information 

Deliver a Men’s Health 
campaign during Men’s 
Health Week in June. 

June ‘07 HIO, 
Men’s Health 
Forum 

Benefits from a national 
media campaign and 
supporting materials 

An event is being planned for 
Men’s Health Week 2007.  This 
will build on the partnership 
event delivered in Thetford 
Forest last year and will focus 
on Breckland’s new 
communities. 

 Ensure Men’s Health 
promotion is included 
within workplace health 
initiatives. 

Ongoing Business Link 
Sport England 

Opportunity to promote 
men’s health through a 
national programme 
being delivered locally. 

11 businesses engaged on the 
workplace health pilot. 
Men’s Health issues will be 
included.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1
9



 

Aim 4 Expanding Free of Charge Exercise Opportunities 

 

Work area Action Timescale Partners (lead) Rationale Progress to June 2007 

Walking for Health 
Scheme  

Support the ongoing 
delivery and expansion 
of the walking for health 
programmes with the 
target of increasing 
participation by 10% 

March ‘07 HIO 
Walking for Health 
Coordinator 

Walking is an accessible 
form of exercise from 
which most people can 
benefit. 

New walks programmes 
introduced in April.  We 
continue to attract new walkers 
and have seen an ongoing 
increase in the number of 
walkers attending walks and the 
number of new registrations.   
New targeted programmes 
have been introduced including 
a pilot pram walks programme 
for new mothers and their 
children. 

 Deliver walk leader 
training with the aim of 
increasing the number 
of trained walk leaders 
by 10% 

Ongoing HIO Always a need for more 
trained volunteers 

10 new leaders trained in 
November 2006 giving a total of 
18 new leaders for the year to 
date.  We now have 34 trained 
volunteer walk leaders with a 
further 12 to be trained in June.  
The growth in numbers 
attending walks now means 
that we regularly require 3 
leaders per walk, adding to the 
demand. 

 Secure external funding 
to ensure the 
continuation of the 
scheme and the co-
ordinators post. 

Mar ‘08 HIO Current funding runs out 
in March 08 

Funding application has been 
submitted to the Big Lottery 
Fund and we are awaiting the 
outcome of this bid.  A 
combination of PCT and 
Breckland Health Improvement 
budgets together with small 
grant applications will sustain 
the project to March ’08. 
 
 

2
0



 

 Produce way-marked 
walks leaflets or booklet 
covering the WHI area. 

On hold Keystone and 
Wayland WHI 
Norfolk County 
Council 

Objective within the WHI 
programme. 

In progress.  Walks routes 
identified and leaflet style 
agreed. 
Publication on hold awaiting 
funding conformation. 
 
 

 Develop Local paths 
network with the target 
of achieving 4 new 
networks in 2007/08 
 

March 08 Walking for health 
coordinator 
NCC Countryside 
access 

Local walking groups 
established and 
supported. 
Regular walks 
programme delivered 
through community paths 
scheme 

New walk routes and walking 
group established in Weeting 
through the Weeting 21 HLC 
project and Ashill with others 
planned 
Working with the Upper Yare 
Partnership and the 
Countryside Access Unit to 
develop walking routes and 
health walks programme in this 
area. 
North Elmham Surgery is 
looking to introduce a walking 
group alongside a lifestyles 
education package. 

Breckland 
Community Sports 
Network (CSN) 

Contribute to the 
establishment and 
development of the 
Community Sports 
Network across 
Breckland. 

ongoing Sports 
Development 
Officer 

Network will result in 
increased partnership 
working between sports 
and physical activity 
providers which will lead 
to increased provision 
and participation. 

Initial meetings with key 
partners have taken place  
Start up funding from Sport 
England has been received and 
a development plan produced. 

Cycling Explore opportunities to 
promote cycling through 
increased awareness, 
new cycling routes and 
workplace travel plans. 

Dec 06 HIO Cycling provides an 
accessible form of 
physical activity that can 
be built into everyday 
routines. 

We have approval and funding 
to commence a cycling for 
health project in partnership 
with Active Norfolk, Lloyds 
Pharmacies, the Forestry 
Commission and BikeArt.  We 
anticipate the scheme will 
commence in September. 

2
1



 

 

Aim 5 – Promoting Workplace Health 

 

Work area Action Timescale Partners (Lead) Rationale Progress to June 2007 

Working Well 
national 
workplace 
health Pilot 

Work with partners to deliver 
this pilot across Norfolk and 
ensure Breckland 
businesses are involved. 
 

Ongoing Sport England 
Business Link 
East of England 
Public Health 
Group 

Programme funded 
through DH, Sport 
England and British Heart 
Forum to pilot workplace 
based physical activity 
and other health 
promotion initiatives in 
rural SME’s. 

The pilot programme is now 
complete and we await the 
evaluation report.  There are 
proposals to continue to support 
the Breckland businesses and to 
replicate the model with other 
firms. 

Work within 
Breckland 
Council 

To establish ‘Experience 
Food at Work’ a healthy 
eating pilot in Breckland 
 
Pool cycles 

May 07 
 
 
 
May ‘07 

US-Creates 
 
 
 
Internal 

To improve diet in the 
workplace. 
 
 
To make cycles available 
for staff to use to attend 
local meetings and to 
travel to the new leisure 
centre 

Pilot established and work plan in 
place. 
 
 
Two cycles now available. 

 
 
 

Aim 6 – Promoting healthier lifestyles via Healthy Eating Campaigns. 

 

Work area Action Timescale Partner (Lead) Rationale Progress to June 2007 

Healthy 
Eating 
Initiatives 

Work with Norfolk 5 A DAY 
programme to develop a 
programme of activity in 
community settings to include  

− Cook and eat sessions  

− Growing schemes 

− 5 A DAY Roadshows 

Ongoing Norfolk 5 A DAY  Joy of Food pilot programme in 
Thetford commenced.  Phase 1 
completed at the Abbey 
Neighbourhood centre with 
some good outcomes reported.  
Phase 2 will be delivered at the 
Surestart Children’s Centres in 
Thetford  
Programme of work included 
within the 5 A DAY 

2
2



 

Coordinators work plan.  
Includes actions within schools, 
workplace and community 
settings. 
 

Promoting 
healthy 
eating and 
increasing 
access 
through 
Village shops 
and other 
outlets 
 

Contribute to the Institute of 
Food Research ’Voice’ village 
shops research project 
steering group and to the 
delivery of associated 
interventions in the Breckland 
area. 
 

Ongoing Institute of Food 
Research, 
Food Standards 
Agency 

Breckland based shops 
are involved in this FSA 
funded research project. 

Ongoing contribution. 
 
Report on the intervention 
stage has been approved and 
FSA funding agreed for phase 
3. 

2
3



 

 

24



BRECKLAND COUNCIL 
 
PANEL 3 – 12th JUNE 2007 
 
REPORT OF THE OPERATIONS MANAGER FOR COMMUNITY SERVICES  
(Author: Laura Apps-Green Community Development Officer) 
 

PLAY STRATEGY 
 

Summary: This report outlines the development a Breckland Play Strategy and the potential for 
bringing £238,000 of external lottery funding into the district.   

   

1. REASONS FOR DEVELOPING A PLAY STRATEGY 

1.1  The Big Lottery Fund have allocated each district council in England a sum of money based 
on per head of population for the improvement and development of children’s play facilities and 
opportunities.  Breckland Council’s allocation is £238,000 and there is no requirement for match 
funding.  Although this money had been allocated to Breckland, it is not guaranteed.  There are four 
key requirements which must be met to enable an application to the Big Lottery for the funding.    
 
The four key elements are: 
 
a) The setting up of a Play Partnership 
This has been done successfully under the auspices of the Local Strategic Partnership (LSP).  Key 
stakeholders were invited to be part of the Forum in September 2006.  Representatives on the Forum 
include: Police, Breckland Council, Norfolk Rural Community Council, Primary Care Trust, Sure Start 
Thetford, Voluntary Youth Services, Planning Policy, Equalities and elected member.   
 
b) The development of a Portfolio of projects in the district 
These projects have to be agreed and endorsed by the Play Forum and should be evenly spread 
across the district.  
 
c) Formal application to the Big Lottery 
The deadline for this application is 10th September 2007.  The application for the £238,000 has to be 
made by the district council.  The community development team is leading on this application and 
would be responsible for monitoring the projects, managing spend and working in partnership with 
delivery groups to implement the projects in the portfolio.      
 
d) Development of a Breckland Play Strategy 
Developed in partnership and endorsed by both Breckland Council and the LSP Play Forum.  See 
section 4 of this report.   

2. KEY DECISION 

2.1 This is a key decision.   

3. COUNCIL PRIORITIES 

3.1 The matter raised in this report falls within the following Council priorities: 

• A safe and healthy environment 
The Play Forum and Play Strategy are committed to working in partnership to create and improve 
safe environments for children and young people to enjoy.   

• A well planned place to live which encourages vibrant communities 
This strategy is in line with the work of the Breckland Planning Policy Team and the Community 
Development framework.  The funding will be used to directly improve play facilities and opportunities 
for play in the district. 

• A prosperous place to live and work 
 

Agenda Item 6

25



4. PLAY STRATEGY  - KEY FINDINGS  

4.1 The key findings in the strategy are that:  

Play in Breckland should: 

• Be challenging and exciting 

• Be provided in clean and safe environments 

• Be easily accessible and local facilities 

• Cater for a wide range of ages 

• Consider provision for supervises and family activity 
 

As a result of the research and consultation, the strategy aims to: 
“Create accessible play opportunities that challenge, excite and stimulate young people living and 
visiting the Breckland district”.   
 
The policy statements within the Strategy are: 

• To recognise and promote the importance of play for young people in terms of mental, 
physical and social development 

• To work in partnership towards developing and implementing an Open Space standard for 
Breckland  

• To encourage and enable accessible play opportunities across the district 

• To encouraging the development of adventurous and challenging play facilities 

• To work in partnership with play providers and assist them to successfully develop individual 
projects 

• To work in partnership to ensure that play areas in Breckland are kept clean, tidy and safe and 
fit for use by everyone 

• To work with the different play providers within Breckland to ensure safety standards are being 
met and help to provide training and information where needed  

• To work together to provide play opportunities for a mixed age range from 0 – 19 years of age  

• To work together to provide play facilities that cater for parent and family supervision and 
participation 

 

5. OPTIONS AVAILABLE 

5.1  There are two options available: 

• Accept the recommendation of this report and endorse the Breckland Play Strategy 

• Decline the recommendation of this report and reject the Breckland Play Strategy 

6. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

6.1 In order make an application to the Big Lottery Fund for £238,000 Breckland Council needs a Play 
Strategy setting out a commitment to work in partnership to enable and develop improved play 
opportunities.   

7. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

7.1 Members support and endorse this Play Strategy and submit a bid to the Big Lottery Fund for the 
sum of £238K.   

 
Appendices: Breckland Play Strategy 
 
 

26



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
1 

Breckland Play Strategy 
 

Contents 

 
1. Executive Summary 
 

2. Introduction 
 

3. Definition of Play 
3.1 What is Play 
3.2 Enabling Play 

 

4. Case for Play 
4.1 Why is play important? 
4.2 Risks involved with play 

 

5. Breckland Area Profile 
5.1 Breckland District Profile 
5.2 Deprivation 
5.3 Quality of Life 
5.4 Health 

 
6. Policy Context 
 

7. Current Local Provision Examined 
7.1 Breckland Play Profile 
7.2 Breckland Open Space Standards 
7.3 Section 106 
7.4 Thetford Growth Point Status 
7.5 Quantity of Play Provision 
7.6 Quality of Play Provision - RoSPA  
7.7 Norfolk Citizens Panel 
7.8 Case Study – Gressenhall 
7.9 Case Study – Clover Fields 
7.10 Case Study – Stay & Play 

  

8. Community Engagement 
8.1Scope of consultation 
8.2 Methods of consultation 

A) Questionnaire 
  B) Workshops 
  C) Sample Surveys 
  D) One-to-one Project support 
8.3 Key Findings & Conclusions 
   

9. Play Forum 
9.1 Breckland Council 
9.2 Wayland Development Trust 
9.3 Norfolk Rural Community Council 
9.4 Norfolk Constabulary 
9.5 Primary Care Trust 
9.6 Breckland Planning Policy 
9.7 Sure Start 
9.8 Local Strategic Partnership 
9.9 Norfolk Council for Voluntary Youth Services 

 

10. Key Policy Statements 
 

11. Action Plan 

27



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
2 

 

12. Review 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

28



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
3 

 

1. Executive Summary 

 
 
To be completed once the draft has been amended 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
4 

 

2. Introduction 

 
This is a play strategy for Breckland, developed by the district council in conjunction with the Breckland 
Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) Play Forum.   
 
The vision for play in Breckland is: 
 
“To create accessible play opportunities that challenge, excite and stimulate young people living 
and visiting the Breckland district”.   
 
The aim of the Breckland Play Forum is: 
 
 “In the context of existing national, regional and local play strategies and planning guidance we 
will develop play opportunities through consultation and partnership working”   
 
Improving opportunities for children and young people is at the forefront of many government agendas, 
for example, “Getting Serious about Play” which reviews play provision and sets out how to improve play 
opportunities for children and young people in the future.  These agendas, along with the Big Lottery 
Children’s Play Funding opportunity and the pending Breckland Open Space Strategy have been the 
catalyst for the development of this Play Strategy.  
     
This Strategy looks at the current provision of play opportunities in the district, identifies through 
community consultation the local needs in terms of play and sets out a plan of action to address these 
needs and gaps in current play provision.   
 
The purpose of this strategy is to set a common vision for the development of play opportunities in 
Breckland for all parties concerned with children and young people to sign up to.  It will be provide a 5 
year framework that structures the development of play sites and the commissioning of play related 
services.      
 
Breckland District Council and the Breckland Play Forum are committed to working in partnership to 
improve play opportunities for children and young people aged 0-19 living in the district.          
 
This 5 year strategy and action plan will be reviewed in 2012. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

30



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
5 

 

3. Definition of Play 

 
3.1 What is Play? 
It is important to define what play means for Breckland.  The Breckland Play Forum has a straight 
forward vision of what play should be:   
 

“Play is accessible, safe and fun” (Breckland Play Forum 2006) 
 
Broken down, this vision means that play should be open and accessible for everyone to enjoy of their 
own free will.  Everyone should have the same opportunity to experience the freedom of play, whether 
they live in a town, village or hamlet, do or don’t have access to a car or bike, are able bodied or 
disabled, live in the district or are making a visit to the area.  
 
There are several elements relating to safe play.  By safe we mean well managed, maintained and safe 
environments for young people to play independently with low personal safety risks.    We do not want to 
restrict the creative freedom and learning experience play provides by limiting provision to tame play 
equipment or opportunities that do not challenge or stretch the users for fear of litigation.   
         
Play should be fun, self directed and leave participants fulfilled and exuberant.  Everything the Breckland 
Play Forum does should lead to play being fun and adventurous.  The Play Forum believes that play 
should involve, laughing, rolling, hanging, climbing trees, friends, making things, dreaming, hanging out, 
running and jumping, dressing up, fantasy play, swinging, rocking and that children are only bound by 
their own imagination.      
 
There have been many attempts to define what is meant by play.  One of the more straight forward 
definitions is given in the government report “Getting Serious about Play”.  This report says that play is 
“what children and young people do when they follow their own ideas in their own way and for their own 
reasons”.     
 
3.2 Enabling Play 
The district council has an enabling role in the provision of play, through the planning policy team, grant 
aid advice, project planning support, strategic partnership arrangements and technical advice.   
    
Children are best placed to design and direct their own play.  National, regional and local government, 
voluntary organisations, community groups, parents, carers are all best placed to enable play, rather 
than direct it.  Through creative play children develop the skills they need for life.  They learn how to 
socialise, interact, share and test their boundaries.   
 
We will work with our strategic partners to build a legacy of good play provision in Breckland.  One way 
of achieving this will be to work within the framework of the “New Charter for Children’s Play”.  The 
Children’s Play Council has written the aforementioned charter, which sets out a vision for children’s play 
and can be used by organisations (whose work has an impact on children’s play) in the following ways: 

• By formally adopting the charter and raise the awareness and importance of play 

• By planning strategically for the development of play 

• By using it as a tool to review and assess current services and functions 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

31



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
6 

 

4. Case for Play 

 
4.1 Why is play important? 
Quality play opportunities for young people have enormous benefits.  The Breckland Play Forum (2006) 
believes that, the provision of a fun, safe but challenging environment achieves: 

• Sense of wellbeing 

• Improved learning 

• Friendship 

• Confidence 

• Improved quality family time 

• Reduces crime and disorder  
 

The Children’s Play Council states that “Children need and want to play, indoors and out, in whatever 
way they can.  Through playing, children develop their abilities, explore their creativity and learn about 
themselves, other people and the world around them”.       
 
A lack of quality play opportunities for children can be detrimental to their long term development, and 
ultimately has an impact on the surrounding community in which they live.  At the first Play England 
national conference on 11th October 2006, Adrian Voce, director of the Children’s Play Council and Play 
England was commenting on the damaging effects of play deprivation and said that “unless we ensure 
all communities have access to well designed and maintained places to play, a large part of the child 
population will miss out on the most fundamental part of childhood”.    
 
The Children’s Play Council lists the following as benefits of play: 
 

• Play promotes children’s development, learning, creativity and independence 

• Play keeps children healthy and active – active children become active adults 

• Play fosters social inclusion.  It helps children understand the people and places in their lives, 
learn about their environment and develop their sense of community 

• Play allows children to find out about themselves, their abilities and their interests 

• Play is therapeutic.  It helps children deal with difficult or painful circumstances, such as 
emotional stress or medical treatment 

• Play gives children the chance to let off steam and have fun 
 
The Breckland Play Forum takes on board the above benefits of play and will strive to ensure this 
strategy delivers these benefits to children and young people in the Breckland area.    
 
4.2 Risks involved with play 
There is a fine balance to be found between providing stimulating and challenging play opportunities and 
minimising the risk of injuries for fear of litigation.  Too much caution can result in play areas being 
uninteresting, underutilised, vandalised and ultimately limiting in the learning and development of 
children and young people.    
 
Taking risks is part of the playing process.  Children learn and develop by pushing their own physical 
and emotional boundaries.  Through consultation with young people in Breckland we found that many 
young people felt falling while playing was all part of the excitement.  One young person from St 
Andrew's C of E Primary School in North Pickenham said “I have hurt myself while playing before but it 
does not put me off, I would do it again”.   
 
The Play Safety Forum is a collection of central national organisations in England with an interest in 
safety in children’s play.  It is an independent body hosted by the Children’s Play Council and has 
developed a position statement called “Managing risk in play provision”.  This statement offers a useful 
guide to striking a balance between offering stimulating play environments and managing the level of risk 
so that children are not exposed to unacceptable serious or fatal injury. 
 

32



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
7 

The Breckland Play Forums primary aim is to provide creative, interesting, challenging play opportunities 
which are managed in accordance with current guidance and best practice, as set out by the Play Safety 
Forum.    
 

Risks for the delivery of this strategy 
Play opportunities within Breckland are provided by various different voluntary groups and organisations 
that all have a slightly different way of managing things.     
The Breckland Play Forum will work with the different play providers within Breckland to ensure safety 
standards are being met and help to provide training and information where needed.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
8 

5. Breckland Area Profile 
  
5.1 Area Profile 
Breckland is one of the largest district council areas in England at 1,305 square kilometres.  It is also one 
of the most sparsely populated with a population density in 2002 that averaged 94 people per square 
kilometre, compared with an average of 284 for the Eastern region and 380 people per square kilometer 
for England overall. Much of the area is rural, given over to agriculture and heath land (the “Brecks”). 
 
In mid-2005 there were an estimated 127,100 residents in Breckland. This included 62,800 males and 
64,300 females.  2.5% of these residents were from black and minority ethnic groups. 
 
49% of the population live in the five market towns of Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Thetford and 
Watton. The other 51% is spread across 107 rural parishes, varying in size from 20 to over 3,000 
residents. 
 
In the twenty years between 1982 and 2002, the population of Breckland grew by 25 per cent, compared 
with an increase of 11 per cent for the East of England region as a whole.  
 
19.32% of Breckland residents are aged 0 – 15.  In the Thetford Abbey and Saxon wards this figure is 
greater than 25%. 
 
5.2 Deprivation 
The national Index of Multiple Deprivation 2004 combines 
deprivation for income, employment, health and disability, 
education, skills and training, barriers to housing and 
services, crime and disorder and the living environment.  
Most of the supporting indicators are from the years 2001 
and 2002. 
 
The map opposite shows the distribution of deprivation 
across Breckland based on small neighbourhoods – Super 
Output Areas (SOAs).  1 of Breckland’s SOA’s is among the 
15% most deprived in England.  The 6 most deprived SOAs 
in Breckland are located in 2 wards – Thetford Abbey and 
Thetford Saxon. 

 
Overall, Breckland is not amongst the most deprived 
local authority areas – 222 most deprived out of 354 
local authorities.   
 
However, Breckland scores poorly on ‘connectivity’ 
and geographical barriers to services.  31 of 
Breckland’s 78 SOAs are in the 10% most deprived for 
the geographical barriers deprivation score.  Mid 
Forest is the 2nd most deprived SOA in the Eastern 
Region for this domain.   
 
A Local Futures report in 2006 ranked Breckland the 
13th worst local authority in the UK in terms of 
‘connectivity’ (400 authorities). 

 

5.3 Quality of Life - Breckland  
The Audit Commission’s Quality of Life Indicators show that “activities for young people” is the first 
priority for improvement in the local area as defined by local residents. 

 

 

 

Mid Forest SOA 

Thetford Abbey 

Thetford Saxon 

Geographical 

Barriers 

IMD 2004 

34



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
9 

 
The Audit Commission has a number of indicators with regard to culture and leisure opportunities: - 
 

Indicator Breckland Value 

% of the population that are within 20 minutes travel time (urban - walking; rural - 
driving) of a range of 3 different sports facility types, at least one of which has 
achieved a quality mark. 

10% 

% of residents who think that for their local area, over the past three years, that 
activities for teenagers has got better or stayed the same.  

63% 

% of residents who think that over the past three years, that cultural facilities (e.g. 
cinemas, museums) have got better or stayed the same.  

78% 

% of residents who think that, over the past three years, that facilities for young 
children have got better or stayed the same.  

76% 

% of residents who think that for their local area, over the past three years, that 
sports and leisure facilities have got better or stayed the same.  

81% 

% of residents who think that for their local area, over the past three years, that 
parks and open spaces have got better or stayed the same.  

88% 

 
5.4 Health 
According to the Community Health Profile for Breckland 2006, Breckland is significantly better than the 
England average for violent crime, teenage pregnancy, male life expectancy and mental health 
treatment.  Breckland is significantly worse than the England average for obesity, people with diabetes 
and older people supported at home.   
 
5.5 Migrant workers & Ethnic Minorities 
As highlighted above, the overall BME population in Breckland is relatively low when compared to other 
local authority areas in the UK.  However, the district has a sizeable (estimated as up to 20,000 
individuals) migrant worker community, mostly working in agricultural and manufacturing / processing 
industries. The majority of this community is believed to be Portuguese, with a growing number of 
nationals from the ascendant EU states such as Lithuania and Poland. 
 

Summary: 
 
Breckland is one of the largest district council areas in England.  Much of the area is rural and the 
character of the district offers a high quality of life and abundant tourism and leisure opportunities.  At the 
same time, the Breckland area presents serious challenges with regard to transport and access. 
 
The population of Breckland is growing rapidly and at a faster rate than the Eastern Region.  The town of 
Thetford has recently been given Growth Point Status and significant housing / employment 
development will be focussed in this area.  Older people account for over 19% of the population, which is 
more than 3% above the national average.   19% of the population are also under 15 years of age – this 
figure rises significantly in Thetford. 
 
The Indices of Multiple Deprivation highlight significant deprivation in Thetford.  In addition, a recent 
report commissioned by the Norfolk Rural Community Council (2007) maps deprivation at Output Level 
and highlights significant deprivation “hot-spots” in the rural areas outside the 5 market towns. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
10 

6. Policy context 
 
There are many National, Regional and Local strategies that give guidance on best practice regarding 
the importance of play and set out how they intend to make positive changes.  Below is a summary of 
those publications most relevant to Breckland and their impact on the overall play agenda. 
 

National Strategies What they say and links to Play 

1989 United Nations 
Convention on the 
Rights of the Child 

Of the 54 Articles there are 2 in particular that relate to a child’s need to play, 
these are: 
Article 31 

1. States Parties recognise the right of the child to rest and leisure, to 
engage in play and recreational activities appropriate to the age of the 
child and to participate freely in cultural life and the arts 

2. States Parties shall respect and promote the right of the child to 
participate fully in cultural and artistic life and shall encourage the 
provision of appropriate and equal opportunities for cultural, artistic, 
recreational and leisure activities. 

Article 27   
1. States parties recognise the right of every child to a standard of living 

adequate for the child’s physical, mental, spiritual, moral and social 
development. 

The New Charter for 
Children’s Play - Written 
by the Children’s Play 
Council  

This charter aims to develop the themes of the 1989 United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child, particularly Article 31, by acting as a 
catalyst for organisations to examine, review and improve their services, 
activities and functions regarding children’s play needs. 

Every Child Matters - 
Green paper - Change 
for Children which lead 
to the Children’s Act 
2004 
 

The “Children’s Act” was produced by the government in 2004.  An integral 
part of this act was the Every Child Matters agenda – Change for Children 
2004.  Every Child Matters has five key outcomes for children and young 
people, they are: 

• Being Healthy 

• Staying Safe 

• Enjoying and Achieving 

• Making a positive contribution 

• Economic well-being 
All those working with children and young people in public, private and 
voluntary sectors are required to come together and use their collective skills, 
knowledge and resources to maximise benefits and opportunities for all 
children and young people. 
The Norfolk children and Young Peoples Plan 2006 – 2009 recognises that 
“There area still gaps in provision and some young people cannot or do not 
have the opportunity to access leisure and recreational activities, particularly 
children and young people living in the more rural communities”.   

Strong & Prosperous 
Communities - 
Local Government 
White paper  
 

The Government published the “Strong and prosperous communities” White 
paper on October 2006.  The key recommendation in this paper is the 
empowerment of communities.  The paper advocates local communities 
taking ownership of public assets to ensure they are used in a way that best 
serves local interest.     

Getting Serious About -
Play Government review  

This report was commissioned by the Government departments for Culture, 
Media and Sport and the department for Education and Skills with support 
from the Big Lottery and other government departments.   
It is a Government sponsored review into children’s play and sets out how 
best to invest £200m from the Big Lottery Fund to improve play opportunities 
for children and young people.   
The aim of this report is to improve play opportunities for children and young 
people aged 0-16 and the catalyst for the Big Lottery Fund Children’s Play 
funding stream.           

Children’s Play Funding In March 2006 the Big Lottery Fund launched a new initiative to invest £155 

36



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
11 

- Big Lottery  million in children’s play opportunities.  £124 million of this initiative is ring-
fenced for applications from local play partnerships led by their local authority.  
Councils are required to consult with local stakeholders to review and develop 
strategies for children’s play and bid for their share of the funding. 
£31 million is also available for the voluntary, community and social 
enterprise sector to fund innovation in children’s play.          

Best Play -  Written in 
conjunction with 
National Playing Field 
Association, PLAYLINK 
and the Children’s Play 
Council  

This document was produced by the National Playing Field Association in 
conjunction with PLAYLINK and the Children’s Play Council among other key 
organisations.  The purpose of this document is to disseminate best practise 
in terms of play provision and promotes the value of high quality play 
environments.   

Choosing Health and 
Making Healthier 
Choices (2004) - Public 
health and White paper 
for England  
 

The government is committed to helping people in England be healthier.  
They produced a document called “Choosing Health” which sets out what the 
government is going to do to help people in England become healthier.  
Regarding children and young people the government say they will: 

• Give better information about health to parents, children and young 
people 

• Work with schools to help children be healthier 

• Encourage children to do sport and exercise 

• Give bigger punishments to shop owners who sell cigarettes to 
children and young people 

Planning Policy 
Guidance Note 17 (PPG 
17) 

National planning guidance on Recreation and Open Space recommends that 
local authorities use the planning system in their area to: 

• Protect existing open spaces and play areas from redevelopment and  

• Better local standards for the provision of new open space based on a 
robust assessment of the local needs and current provision 

County Strategies What they say and links to Play 

Local Area Agreement 
(LAA Norfolk) 

This is a 3 year agreement between the government and Norfolk to deliver, in 
partnership, a series of outcomes.  Among these outcomes is a block 
focusing on Children and young people.  A partnership has been developed 
to focus on the key outcomes which are aligned with the five Every Child 
Matters outcomes, see above. 

Children and Young 
Peoples Plan for Norfolk 

This document promotes a shared vision and gives key priorities for 
improving the lives of children and young people in Norfolk over the next 
three years.  This document has been produced by the County Children and 
Young People’s Partnership and is integral to its further development and 
supports all agencies across Norfolk that provide services to support the 
needs of children and young people and their parents and carers.  This 
strategy is also founded on the Every Child Matters outcomes as listed 
above. 

Local Strategies What they say and links to Play 

Community Plan for 
Breckland (This 
document is currently 
being refreshed to meet 
government 
requirements on 
sustainability)  

The Breckland LSP has identified 8 themes in order to focus on the issues 
that matter most to the people living in the district.  One of these themes is 
Culture.  The LSP states that it is committed to providing “cultural and leisure 
opportunities that improve the life and well-being of all residents and visitors”.  
This strategy states that it is committed to: 

• Broadening the range of activities for target groups 

• Improving access to leisure 

• Enabling communities to develop local initiatives 

• Increase community involvement 

Breckland Community 
Safety Strategy 

The Breckland Community Safety Strategy 2005-08 has 6 policy aims 
including: 

• To build vibrant, confident and cohesive communities, promoting the 
value of diversity and ensuring equality of opportunity 

• To work in partnership with the local community to enhance the level 

37



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
12 

of community pride and ownership in the physical environment 
(providing effective crime reduction measures through land use, 
transportation planning and environmental management) 

Breckland Cultural 
Strategy 

This strategy identifies that play needs to be recognised within the cultural 
remit and is an important part of development within the community.   
The strategy highlights the fact that many areas within the district’s main 
towns are not within easy reach of an equipped children’s play area of any 
kind and that there are villages with no provision whatsoever.   
There are also many equipped play areas that cannot be categorised 
according to the National Playing Fields Association (NPFA) classification of 
local areas of play (LAP’s), local equipped area of play (LEAP’s) and 
neighbourhood equipped areas of play (NEAP’s), although they clearly serve 
an important local function.   
It states that developing a Breckland Play Strategy needs to be given a high 
priority.  

Breckland Economic 
Prosperity Strategy 

The Breckland Economic Prosperity Strategy 2006-10 sets out a number of 
strategic objectives.  Many of which have an impact on Children and young 
people, in particular: 
Strategic Objective 2 – Attracting Inward Investment 

• Initiate the preparation of a tourism strategy which identifies the key 
strengths: attractions, the environment, outdoor leisure (eg Thetford 
Forest), the market, and the promotional activities which complement 
other regional/sub regional activities.   

Strategic Objective 4 – Improving transport and infrastructure 

Breckland Council 
Corporate Plan 

Breckland Council has three key priorities, one of which is: 
A well planned place to live that encourages vibrant communities 
The council has made a commitment: 

• To work towards vibrant, sustainable and inclusive communities 

• To enhance Breckland’s rural character and landscape 

Open Space Strategy This is in a draft format and no summary is available 

Breckland Social 
Inclusion Strategy –
(Draft document) 

This document aims to build on the aims of the Community Plan for 
Breckland by helping those who are least able to enjoy the quality of life that 
others living and working in the Breckland area can expect.    

Breckland Local Plan 
(This document is 
currently being replaced 
by the forthcoming Local 
Development 
Framework) 

The adopted Breckland Local Plan (1999) has a number of planning policies 
to protect existing open space including play areas.  Additionally, there are 
planning policies which require the provision of new open space on all 
developments of 25 houses or more.  Currently the Local Plan requires open 
space provision, including children’s play space, in accordance with National 
Playing Field Association standards.  During the lifetime of this strategy, the 
district council will formally replace the Local Plan with the Local 
Development Framework (LDF).  This will enable a new set of planning 
policies to be prepared in line with the PPG 17 and local evidence.  In respect 
of children’s play it is likely that all new residential development will contribute 
to play provision either directly as part of a new housing estate or indirectly 
through commuted payments to improve the quality and/or quantity of existing 
play areas.   

 

Summary: 
All of the strategies and documents listed above have a bearing on the development of this Play Strategy 
for Breckland.   
 
Firstly, they all underpin the importance of young people in our society and provide guidance for best 
practice around the provision for young people.  Secondly, they highlight the fact that there is a gap 
between policy aspirations and the actual opportunity for people to play locally.     
 
The above policy sets the direction of travel that Breckland Council and partners need to take with 
regards to young peoples services and play provision in particular. 

38



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
13 

 
 

7. Current Local Provision Examined 
 
7.1 Breckland Play Profile 
The rural nature of Breckland can present specific challenges in terms of play provision, as the critical 
mass of the population in many villages is not large enough to justify significant expenditure of expensive 
facilities.  Facilities developed need to be relevant to the village in which they are situated.  Around 50 
percent of Breckland residents populate the 5 market towns, this means that another 50 percent live in 
the rural parishes across the district.  Access is a major barrier for many people.  In Breckland there is a 
concentration of static play areas situated in the 5 market towns.  With the lack of public transport and 
connecting footpaths, getting to these facilities can be hard for many people living in the rural 
hinterlands.   
 
7.2 Breckland Open Space Standards 
The Government Planning Policy Guidance for open space, sports and recreation published in 2002 
(PPG17) requires all local authorities to assess the provision and need for open space in their area.  The 
purpose is to measure the quality, quantity and accessibility of open space and revise local planning 
policies to address any surplus or deficiencies.    
 
Breckland District Council commissioned consultants Leisure and Environment in July 2005 to undertake 
a quantitative audit of all open space within the Breckland area, in order to identify open space sites 
based on the PPG 17 typology criteria.  This audit was further refined through local consultation and is 
complemented by a RoSPA (Royal Society of the Prevention of Accidents) inspection of all play areas in 
Breckland, which was conducted in September 2006.  To add to this research Breckland District Council 
conducted an in-house qualitative audit of all outdoor sports areas in December 2006.   
 
The Breckland area will see 15200 new houses built between 2001 and 2021.  With this significant 
growth pending and the results of the PPG 17 research, the Breckland Planning Policy team are working 
on developing an open space standard, which will develop further the 6 Acre standard set by the 
National Playing Fields Association (NPFA).  The NPFA 6 Acre Standard is based on a minimum 
provision of 6 acres (2.4ha) for 1000 people of outdoor sports for adults and youths and playing space 
for children.  This NPFA standard is split between, outdoor sports provision (1.6ha) and children’s play 
(0.8ha). 
 
7.3 Section 106  
Current policy in the adopted Local Plan (policy REC.2) requires on-site provision of open space for 
residential development (known as a Section 106).  New developments put considerable pressure on 
existing infrastructure often resulting in inadequate provision for the community.  A significant amount of 
development is taking place in the district which makes no contribution to open space provision.    
 
We understand that the Breckland Planning Policy Team are currently reviewing planning policy through 
the preparation of the Local Development Framework (LDF), which is due to be completed following an 
independent public examination in 2008.  These changes could see more money being available to 
spend on local services and infrastructure including the development of play, recreation and informal 
open space and sports facilities.   
 
7.4 Thetford Growth Point Status 
In October 2006 Thetford was awarded Growth Point Status.  The bid was spearheaded by Breckland 
Council and Thetford Town Council and builds on the momentum of The Moving Thetford Forward 
Campaign to make Thetford a sustainable community of regional significance.  The Growth Point status 
reflects that in the period to 2021 and beyond, Thetford and the surrounding area will become one of the 
fastest growth areas in the East of England with 6,000 houses and significant jobs between 2001 and 
2021. 
 
Growth Point Status will allow access to significant funding which will be used to help overcome local 
infrastructure problems, unlock sites for new housing and enhance the local environment.  The Growth 

39



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
14 

Point funding will be used along with funding from other sources to help support the investigation of the 
growth of Thetford and along with developer contributions to support the delivery and regeneration of the 
town.  
 
The overall investment in Thetford will focus on five key areas, in no particular order: 

• Housing growth  

• Regeneration  
• Economy (including jobs)  
• Transport  
• Environment (including both natural assets as well as historical ones)  

 
Consultants have been appointed to carry out two studies; the Thetford Masterplan – Growth Framework 
and Infrastructure Study and the Green Infrastructure Study.   
 
A key purpose of the Master Plan is look into possible locations for sustainable development taking into 
account constraints such as Conservation Areas, Listed Building status and Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI).  It will also identify current social and transport infrastructure short falls and potential for 
improvement along with how that infrastructure might be delivered. 
 
Green Infrastructure is defined as “the sub-regional network of protected sites, nature reserves, green 
spaces and greenway linkages which should be multi functional and operate at all spatial scales from 
urban centres through to open countryside”. As part of the Growth Point Bid it was indicated that a 
country park with Green Flag Status, visitor centre and foot and cycle links to enhance the already 
existing woodland area in Thetford was being sought. The Green Infrastructure Study will identify 
opportunities for enhancement of existing and opportunities for the new green infrastructure provision. 
Sources of funding, prioritised actions and developer guidance are also anticipated outcomes of this 
study.  
 
This Play Strategy, as well as the Open Space Assessment also being undertaken by Breckland District 
Council, will be used to inform the Green Infrastructure Study.  
 
7.5 Quantity of overall Play Provision 
Across the Breckland district 91 static play areas, 89 outdoor sports areas and 3 parks and gardens 
have been identified.  27 of the static play areas are owned and managed by Breckland District Council, 
the rest are owned and managed by individual parish councils or community/voluntary groups. 
 
67% of the parishes in the district do not meet the NPFA standard for open space provision.  Although 
the 5 market towns have the highest concentration of static play areas they also have the largest 
deficiency in total playing space compared to the NPFA standard, due to relative population size, 
Thetford having the largest deficiency of any parish in the district.   
 
The map below illustrates the comparison of the provision of total playing space, compared with the 
NPFA standard of 2.4 (ha) for each parish. Parishes shown in red do not meet the NPFA standard and 
are deficient in overall playing space, whilst parishes shown in green meet the NPFA standard or have a 
surplus. 
 

40



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
15 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The 5 market towns of Watton, Swaffham, Attleborough, Thetford and Dereham have the highest 
percentage of children and  the highest deficiency in provision of children’s play compared with the 
NPFA standard.  Thetford has the highest percentage of children within its parish compared to the other 
four market towns and also has the highest deficiency of children’s play against the NPFA standard.   
 
The map below illustrated each parish in Breckland combined with the number of young persons within 
that parish (aged 0-15) based on 2001 census.  Red areas are deficient of play provision compared with 
the NPFA standard of 0.8ha per 1000 population.  The green area shows a surplus in terms of play 
provision. 

Provision of Open 
Space compared to 

NPFA Standard 

Key: 
Green = areas meet standard 
Red = does not meet standard 

 

41



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The map above shows that overall Breckland has a deficiency in terms of static play provision in all bar 
one parish, having said that, many of the parishes are only a fraction short of meeting the standard.   
The higher the population of an area the greater the deficiency, for example, Thetford has the largest 
population of young people (5063) and the greatest deficiency in defined play areas at -16.30 hectares. 
   
7.6 RoSPA – Royal Society for the Prevention of Accidents 
ROSPA undertook a play value, risk and access assessment during September 2006 on all children’s 
play areas in the district using their standardised methodology. The study concluded that (disregarding 
equipment), the play value of the sites was fairly high, mainly due to the rural nature and surroundings of 
the sites.  However, the study concluded that there is a distinct lack of good equipment for use at most 
sites, making the play value including equipment generally poor.  The provision of facilities for teenagers 
was found to be very poor with no quality provision found anywhere in the district.     
 

Provision of static play equipment 
compared to NPFA standard of 2.4 
(ha) per 1000 population 

Key: 
Red = deficient in play equipment compared to NPFA standard 
Green = sufficient play equipment compared to NPFA standard 
Figures = Numbers of young people in each parish and percentage by 
which there is a deficiency/surplus of play equipment in each parish  

42



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
17 

The RoSPA assessment grouped the play areas into 3 different categories, toddlers, juniors and 
teenage.  Map 1 below shows the toddler play value for children’s play areas by parish with only 3 
parishes achieving an average toddler play value.  The white areas indicate the parishes that currently 
have no static play provision for toddlers.     
 
Map 2 below illustrated the play value for junior play areas by parish.  Only one parish (Sporle) achieves 
an average score.  The white areas indicate the parishes that currently have no static play provision for 
the junior age range.     
 
 

 

 
Map 3 below shows teenage play value by parish.  All provision assessed has a poor play value.  Only 2 
parishes, East Harling and Swaffham were given a slightly higher score, but it was still below average.  
The white areas indicate the parishes that currently have no static play provision for teenagers.     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Map 1  
Toddler Play value 
as assessed by 
RoSPA 

Map 2  
Junior Play value 
as assessed by 
RoSPA 

43



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
18 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary: 
The quality of children’s play areas throughout the district is poor with very few exceptions.  By RoSPA 
standards, only 3 parishes score an average rating for either toddler or junior play provision.  The rest 
are either below average or poor.   
In terms of teen provision, without exception the provision is poor right across the district.   
Almost 50% of parishes in the district have no provision at all. 

 
7.7 Norfolk Citizens Panel 
The Norfolk Citizens research panel is nationally recognised and is held in high regard by the Audit 
Commission.  Over 1000 Breckland residents are on the panel and share their views on central and local 
government issues twice a year.  The November/December 2006 consultation (46% completed the 

Map 3 
Teenage  Play 
value as assessed 
by RoSPA 

 

44



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
19 

Source: Ipsos MORI

Use of  parks and open spaces

12%

11%

11%

10%

10%

8%

5%

4%

Base: 466

Once or twice a year

Two/ three times a month

Once or twice a week

Never

Every day

Q How often, if  at all, do you visit  parks and open spaces in Breckland?

Less than once a year

Once every two/ three months

Once a month

questionnaire) showed that Breckland residents display a broad range of visiting habits to parks and 
open space.  
 
10% of the panellists said they visit such areas once or twice a week.  Conversely, 12% say they visit 
parks and open space facilities once or twice a year.  This erratic usage pattern is balanced by the 
panellists placing a high importance on parks and open space.  27% feel these spaces are essential 
whilst 42% view them as important.  90% of the residents questioned agree that parks and open space 
contribute to the quality of the local environment.   
 
 
The chart below left shows frequency of visits to parks & open space.  The table below right shows 
ranked importance of different public spaces. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Panellists were asked what they think are the 3 most important types of open space where they live.  
62% said children’s play areas are the most important to them.  See table above right for detail.   
 
When asked how satisfied they are with parks and open spaces in the district 54% said they were 
slightly satisfied with the current provision with only 10% saying they are very satisfied.   
 
 
 

Q Which of the following do you 
think are the three most important 

Base:  466 (All respondents)  
% 

parks Local 64 

Children’s play areas 62 

Space for outdoor sport 48 

Country parks 34 

Village greens 24 

Source: Ipsos MORI 

Chart  
MORI poll showing frequency of 

visits to parks and open space 

Table 
MORI poll showing ranked importance 

of different public spaces 

45



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
20 

7.8 Case Study - Gressenhall Woodland Playground 
 
There are some significant gaps in play provision within Breckland, however, there are some good 
examples that should be highlighted.  One example is the woodland playground situated in the ground of 
the Roots of Norfolk Museum, which is based in the former workhouse at Gressenhall.  Gressenhall is a 
small village 4 miles north of Dereham town.  The Roots of Norfolk Museum has recently undergone a 
series of refits and now has an audience of around 57,000.  The museum offers excellent reminiscence 
work, has a great track record for school use, involves substantial volunteers and runs a full programme 
of activities.  The museum site includes a farm, restaurant, conference and meeting rooms and a large 
play area catering for toddlers to teens.        
 
The playground is in keeping with the rural surround comprising of large wooden apparatus including, zip 
wire, tyre swings, climbing wall, castle towers and cargo nets.  There is a connected toddler area which 
is also a timber construction.  The area has been designed to blend into the landscape by situating it in 
the hollow that was created when digging out clay to make the bricks for the workhouse structure. 
 
Although this is a fantastic playground that is very well used there are some draw backs.  As the play 
area is situated within the museum there is an entrance fee which can be prohibitive for many families.  
The location of the play area is remote, in the north of the district and not served well by public transport.  
 
To build a similar play area would cost in the region of £250,000. 
 

                                             
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Picture above of the woodland playground ribbon cutting with Museum Manager Stuart Gillis, John 
Gretton from Norfolk County Council, William Nunn from Breckland Council and children from St Mary’s 
County Primary Beetley. 

 

7.9 Case Study – Cloverfields Multi Use Games Area (MUGA) 
 
The Cloverfields MUGA is an example of a poorly planned and used play area.  This site is situated 
within the Kilverstone housing estate in Thetford.  It was built as part of a new housing development of 
residential flats and houses.  The MUGA has been operational since the end of 2006 and since its 
opening has been the hub for anti-social and criminal behaviour.   
 
The main problems with this play area are associated with: 

• Noise (particularly in the later evening) 

• Anti social behaviour 

• Litter 

• Rowdy rude and abusive behaviour 

• Drinking 

• Smashing of glass 
There are many lessons to be learnt from this play space to avoid any similar problems with other future 
developments, including: 

• Engage with Police Agricultural Liaison Officer to advise on designing out crime 

• Partnership management of sites 

46



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
21 

• Lockable site so that it can’t be used late a night 

• Install heavy duty litter bins 

• Buy in and ownership by the local community 

• Security measures in place 

• Site location 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

7.10 Case Study - Sure Start Thetford Children’s Centres, Stay & Play Sessions 
 
The Children’s Centre Community Team offer 5 play sessions at venues around Thetford. These 
sessions are planned in line with Early Foundation Stage Curriculum and Birth to Three Matters. Parents 
are actively encouraged to participate in activities and information is shared on the benefits of play, story 
telling, sharing songs and books.  
 
Other services providers are welcome to access these sessions to meet families and promote their 
service. Regularly there are representatives from the Health Team, Police, Fire, Social Care and CAB. 
 
Families who have been identified as experiencing isolation have been referred to the team, who make 
every effort to support the family in attending the groups.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Picture above left of parents and babies at a Baby Start session. 
Picture above right of parents and children sharing time together at a Stay & Play session. 
Both sessions are delivered as part of the busy community programme offered by Sure Start Thetford 
Children’s Centre. 

 
 
 
 
 

47



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
22 

Summary: 
The case studies above highlight some key areas to consider and manage when developing future play 
opportunities in the district, these include:   
 

• Involving key stakeholders from the outset to ensure community buy in  

• Engaging with young people so that what is provided is fit for purpose and needed 

• For capital projects, involving the Police Architectural Liaison Officer so that crime prevention 
measure are taken into account 

• Ensuring that what is provided is in keeping with the local surrounding environment 

• Where possible, providing play provision free of charge and accessible 

• Ensuring equality in access to play provision by taking into account the needs of people with 
disabilities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

48



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
23 

Key barriers to developing play or open space 

facilities.
Lack of money

Lack of available

land
Lack of volunteers

Fear of litigation

Resistance from

local residents
Management

costs
Fear of vandalism

8. Community Engagement 
 

Current play provision in Breckland is not meeting the needs of young people living in the area.  In order 
to fully understand the needs of young people and provide facilities that are fit for purpose, extensive 
research and consultation was carried out. 
 
8.1 Scope of consultation 
In order to incorporate a broad spectrum of views we consulted with a number of different groups, 
including direct users and those connected with play.  During the consultation period of October 2006 to 
April 2007 the following groups were consulted: 

• Children and young people 

• Parents 

• Play providers and organisations linked to play 

• Parish & Town Councils 
 
8.2 Methods of consultation 
 
A) Questionnaire: 
Firstly, a questionnaire was sent out to all 113 Parish and Town Councils in the district, which asked for 
information on the quality; quantity and accessibility of play areas and open space in each parish.  All 
parishes were sent a questionnaire regardless of whether they currently have play and open space 
provision or not.  This questionnaire was sent out in conjunction with the Planning Policy.  There was a 
low response rate at 24%, nevertheless the information gathered is of importance.  See Appendix… for 
example of questionnaire sent out. 
 
Those parishes that responded that do not currently have play and open space provision said that the 
key barriers to providing facilities are: 

• Lack of money 

• Lack of available land 

• Lack of volunteers 

• Ongoing management costs 

• Resistance from local residents 
 
Chart 1. – Shows the key barriers for parish and town councils in developing open space and play 
facilities  
 
             1. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Although parish and town councils feel there are key barriers to providing play and open space of those 
that responded to the questionnaire, 6 parishes are currently developing proposals for play area or open 
space developments.  
 

49



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
24 

The respondents that currently do provide play and open space facilities were asked how they would 
improve the usage of their play areas and open space areas.  All responses referred to the need for 
refurbishment, replacement or enhancement of existing facilities. 
 
B) Workshops: 
Three workshops were held across the district targeted at play providers.  Delegates included 
representation from parish and town councils, voluntary groups and organisations, charities, village hall 
management committees, play area/playing field committees, area partnerships, children’s services, pre-
schools and interested individuals.  In total, approximately 45 delegates attended these workshops.  
These workshops served two purposes.  Firstly, to promote the Big Lottery Children’s Fund opportunity, 
secondly, to help shape this strategy and thirdly,  to conduct consultation with the play providers to find 
out what play opportunities they think young people want.   
 
The key findings from these workshops are as follows: 
 

What are your local play 
needs? 

How have these 
needs been 
identified? 

What can you 
contribute to address 
these needs? 

What are the key 
challenges? 

Teenage hang outs Talking to young 
people in area 

Volunteers – running and 
responsible for provision 

Sustainability  
 

Replacement/refurbishment 
of play areas 

Village appraisal action 
plan 

Funding – directly and 
bidding for 

Funding 

Facilities that cater for all 
ages 

Questionnaires Maintenance of play area Transport/access 

Walkable / bikable play 
provision 

Observations Enthusiastic committee Understanding the 
needs of young 
people 

Local play provision  Requests from parents Section 106 contributions Project management 

Safe environment  Local research donations Encouraging 
imaginative play 

Musical activities Parish meetings Local labour Planning constraints 

Family activities School involvement Town & Parish Council 
support 

Access to land 

Sports equipment   Maintaining 
enthusiasm/Getting 
parents involved 

Disabled access   Opposition to play 
developments 

Skate board/BMX parks   Using facilities and 
services for cheep 
childcare 

Open Space/kick about 
areas 

  Government 
regulations 

Sensory gardens   Sufficient volunteers 

              
C) Targeted consultation with sample user groups: 
Targeted semi-structured interviews were held with a number of user groups across the district.  The 
following groups were consulted with: 
 

Group Age range Number in 
attendance 

Method of consultation 
used 

No. living in town 
No. living in village 

Dereham Scout 
groups 

11-13 30 (22 boys, 
8 girls) 

Post in note 
Flip chart 
Discussion 

Town = 9 
Village = 21 

Dereham Scout 
groups 

14-16 8 (All boys) Post in note 
Flip chart 
Discussion 

Town = 2 
Village = 6 

50



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
25 

North Pickenham 
Primary school 

7-11 22 Interactive focus groups 
Semi structured 
focus/discussion groups 

Town = 8 
Village = 14 

Thetford Youth 
Council 

11-17 6 Discussion group Town = 6 

Pregnant and 
delivered young mums 
group Thetford 

13-17 5 Semi-Structured interviews Town = 5 

Time to Play – Parent 
and toddler group 

Not 
appropriate 
to ask 

16 One-to-one chats within 
play session 

Not known 

Fred Nichols School 
Dereham (For children 
and young people with 
learning difficulties) 

11-15 7 Discussion group Town = 4 
Village = 1 
City = 2 

    Total young people 
consulted with = 94 

 
Key Findings from this consultation are as follows: 
 

Key needs of young people – Aged 0-6 (Research undertaken with parents) 

Free play provision 

Toddler equipment for the under 5’s – robust equipment that is difficult to vandalise 

Clean and safe environments – free from vandalism, drug users, alcohol and broken bottles, dog mess 

Toilets and baby changing facilities 

Centrally located and easy to get to 

Indoor play provision that can be used all year round 

Social interaction for both the children and the parents – picnic benches 

Security  

Key needs of young people – Aged 7-11 

Exciting, fast and risky play – Zip wires  

Fantasy play – wooden climbing structures  

Key needs of young people - Aged 11-13 

Exciting and risky play facilities - zip wire, climbing nets, wooden structures for fantasy play, sports wall, 
agility/fitness equipment, skateboarding.   

Safe places to play e.g. away from intimidating gangs, drug users and vandalism 

Clean environments to play in e.g. the provision of bins, dog controls, toilet facilities, lighting, safety 
surfaces, benches 

Local provision in villages as well as in towns – provision that can be walked or biked to 

Better ranges of play equipment for older children 

Up to date play equipment that is well looked after 

Key needs of young people – Aged 14-17 

Sports based equipment – Multi purpose sports complex 

Somewhere to sit with friends – shelter, bins, toilets 

Safe environments – suggestions for combating antisocial behaviour in and around play facilities included, 
CCTV, good lighting, an attendant to supervise, toilets, bins, bike lock ups 

Local provision in the villages as well as the towns - provision that can be walked or biked to 

Internet café 

Ice/roller skate rink 

 
D) One-to-one support 
A targeted support clinic was held specifically for groups/organisations interested in being part of a Big 
Lottery funding bid for children’s play services and facilities in the Breckland.  The clinic gave groups the 
opportunities to access one-to-one targeted development advice for their project ideas.      
 
 

51



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
26 

 
8.3 Key Findings & Conclusions  
 
The common themes from all groups consulted with are: 
 

• Exciting, challenging and risky play facilities:  Young people want to be challenged and push 
their own boundaries.  Learning through play is an integral part of growing up. 

• Clean play environments:  A major concern of groups consulted with was the problems of dog 
mess, used needles, broken glass and litter in current play facilities. 

• Safe environments:  Many of the young people said that they felt intimidated by the presences 
of gangs in the larger play facilities in the towns.  There were suggestions that CCTV cameras 
could be installed, an attendant could be employed and better lighting provided.     

• Local play provision: Every group consulted with said there is a need for easily accessible local 
play provision that could be travelled to by foot or bike.  Many felt that there is too much focus on 
providing facilities in the towns rather than the villages.   

• Facilities should cater for a range of age groups: Groups consulted with were aware that 
there are different play needs depending on the age of young people and felt that play areas 
should cater for a variety of ages and have separated out areas for the different age groups to 
use. 

• Provision for supervisors and families: Groups consulted said there is a need for picnic 
benches, bins and public conveniences so that parents and guardians can comfortably supervise 
and take part in the play process.  

 
 

Summary:  
The findings suggest that play in Breckland should: 

• Be challenging and exciting 

• Be provided in clean and safe environments 

• Be easily accessible and local facilities 

• Cater for a wide range of ages 

• Consider provision for supervises and family activity  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

52



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
27 

 

9. Play Forum 
 
The Breckland Local Strategic Partnership (LSP) Community Plan for 2005/15 has a number of locally 
identified priorities that will be addressed through the partnership over the coming years.  Culture is a 
key priority, with the aim “To provide cultural and leisure opportunities that improve the life and well-
being of all our residents and visitors”.  This document is currently being refreshed to meet government 
requirements on sustainability.   
 
In order to address this priority the Breckland LSP in conjunction with Breckland Council set up a sub-
group called the LSP Play Forum.  This forum has representation from various organisations across the 
district and Breckland Council departments and brings together a wealth of experience, particularly 
focusing on the play needs of young people. 
 
Each Play Forum member represents an organisation or community group that has an interest in 
improving play opportunities for young people in the district.  Please find below a brief description of the 
remit each representative organisation has regarding young people. 
 
9.1 Wayland Partnership Development Trust 
The Wayland Partnership hosts the Wayland Youth Focus Group which has representatives from the 
High School, the Youth Council, the local youth service officers, the safer neighbourhood team, the 
rotary club and interested members of the community.  The Focus group has recently conducted a 
survey through the Youth Council and is now seeking funding, support and opportunity to deliver some of 
the young people’s priorities both in the town and in the partner villages.  It is also supporting the 
establishment of a young people’s health clinic, is running a youth Health Fair in Well-Wayland Week 
and has helped the Town Council to fund a new Play area. 
The Wayland Partnership are also working with Creative Arts East to deliver a programme of support for 
some of the disaffected young people.  
 Partnership Priorities 

1. To give Young People in the Wayland area a Voice  
2. To reduce anti-social behaviour in the town and the villages  
3. To help to provide improved facilities for young people in the town and the villages.  

  
9.2 Norfolk Rural Community Council 
Norfolk RCC currently administers the Local Network Fund (LNF) for Children and Young People across 
the county. LNF is a grant fund that gives grants of up to £7,000 to voluntary groups/organisations for 
local projects for children and young people. The funding is available until March 2008 but applications 
have to be submitted by October 2007. All applications have to meet the objectives of Every Child 
Matters. 
NRCC supports community groups working with children and young people such as play areas and 
playing fields, village hall committees, youth councils etc 
 
9.3 Police 
The Constabulary has a number of ways in which it serves young people – through our Safer 
Neighbourhoods Teams there is an engagement strategy to address the needs of young people, we 
cooperate with Youth Services to provide education and outreach work, SNAP dances and other 
diversionary activities. The Youth Offending Team works in partnership with other bodies to identify and 
work with young offenders to address their behaviour and divert them away from crime. Our schools 
involvement officers provide support and inputs on the citizenship programme, and in Thetford we have 
a Safer Schools Officer who provides full time input to two High Schools on all aspects of safety within 
the school environment. Operation Nightsafe is being rolled out across the district and within its remit 
deals with young people and alcohol, both in an enforcement role and to promote personal safety. These 
activities are over and above the 24/7 emergency service that is available to young people throughout 
the district. 
 
 
 

53



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
28 

 
8.4 PCT 
The Health Improvement Officer is a partnership post between Norfolk PCT and Breckland Council.  A 
key role of the post is to support the PCT, the Council and other partners in the Breckland Local 
Strategic Partnership in the development and delivery of locally based health improvement initiatives. 
Actions to promote the health and well-being of children, young people and families form an important 
part of the Breckland Health Improvement work programme. Play contributes to health promotion in 
many ways. For example, physically active play helps young people to develop coordination, strength, 
manipulation and fine motor skills.  It also contributes to a child's sense of self-worth and can help 
develop a sense of responsibility for actions and choices. It allows children to enact ideas and fears in a 
safe environment. 
 
8.5 Planning Policy 
Currently the planning policy team is working on an Open Space Strategy to inform the up and coming 
Local Development Framework.  The Local Development Framework (LDF) will replace the 1999 Local 
Plan and is made up of a number of documents which will facilitate and control future land use and 
development within Breckland.   
  

Breckland’s Open Space Strategy will achieve the following objectives. 
  

• Inform the policies within the Local Development Framework.  
• Provide Breckland with planning guidance and open space standards.  
• Assist Breckland in identifying needs for new open spaces and out door sports facilities, whilst 

protecting the existing opens spaces where necessary.  
• Inform the future management of opens spaces and sports facilities including the identification of 

opportunities to enhance and reconfigure opens space provision.  
• Enable Breckland to identify priorities for future investment and provide a rationale to secure 

provision of facilities particular via developer’s contributions. 
 
8.6 Sure Start 
Sure Start Children's Centres are at the heart of the Government’s strategy to deliver better outcomes for 
children, and are places where children under 5 years old and their families can receive seamless 
holistic integrated services and information, and where they can access help from multi-disciplinary 
teams of professionals. The Thetford ‘Centre’ is actually on four sites; the main site is on Kingsway with 
satellite provision at Canterbury Infant School, Drake Infant School and the Thetford Community Healthy 
Living Centre. 

Sure Start Thetford Children’s Centres offer the following services: good quality early learning combined 
with full day care provision for children with good quality teacher input, child and family health services, 
including ante-natal services, parental outreach, family support services, including social work support, a 
base for a childminder network, support for children and parents with special needs, and effective links 
with Jobcentre Plus and adult education training to support parents/carers who wish to consider training 
or employment.  

8.7 Norfolk Council for Voluntary Youth Services 
Norfolk Council for Voluntary Youth Services is a registered charity run by its members. It offers a range 
of support and networking opportunities to over 100 member organisations who in turn deliver in nearly 
2,000 groups that boast 10,000+ adult volunteers working with over 70,000 young people throughout 
Norfolk every week. Member organisations range from those delivering Norfolk County Council 
contracted work through the Every Child Matters agenda, large, long established uniformed groups such 
as Scouts, Guides and Faith Groups through to the small community youth groups run in village halls. 
Services provided range from small grants and access to an extensive collaborative training programme, 
to networking opportunities at district, county, regional and national levels, Criminal Records Bureau 
checks, direct infrastructure support and much more. NCVYS offers its members a signposting service 
towards the development of activity programmes for young people. Through its unique funding 
relationship with Norfolk County Council, Norfolk CVYS is able to provide a voice for the voluntary youth 
sector in discussions with political leaders across Parish, District and County Councils and with other 

54



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
29 

agencies such as regional and national government, Children’s Services, Norfolk Connexions Service 
and other agencies working with young people in Norfolk. 
 

Summary: 
The Play Forum is responsible for delivering this strategy.   
The members of the forum bring a wealth of skills and knowledge from a broad range of organisations.  
All members are committed to working together to improve and develop play opportunities in Breckland.   
The Play Forum has its own terms of reference, see appendix… 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
30 

10. Key Policy Statement 
 
Breckland district council and the LSP Play Forum have a commitment to assist in the development and 
improvement of play facilities for young people in the district.   
 
As a result of our research and consultation within Breckland, the LSP Play Forum aims are: 
 
“In the context of existing national, regional and local play strategies and planning guidance we will 
develop play opportunities through consultation and partnership working”   
 
“To create accessible play opportunities that challenge, excite and stimulate young people living and 
visiting the Breckland district”.   
 
Breckland District Council and the LSP Play Forum will strive to achieve these aims through the following 
policy statements: 
 

• To recognise and promote the importance of play for young people in terms of mental, physical 
and social development 

 

• To work in partnership towards developing and implementing an Open Space standard for 
Breckland  

 

• To encourage and enable accessible play opportunities across the district 
 

• To encouraging the development of adventurous and challenging play facilities 
 

• To work in partnership with play providers and assist them to successfully develop individual 
projects 

 

• To work in partnership to ensure that play areas in Breckland are kept clean, tidy and safe and fit 
for use by everyone 

 

• To work with the different play providers within Breckland to ensure safety standards are being 
met and help to provide training and information where needed  

 

• To work together to provide play opportunities for a mixed age range from 0 – 19 years of age  
 

• To work together to provide play facilities that cater for parent and family supervision and 
participation 

 
 
 

Summary: 
The vision for play in Breckland is “To create accessible play opportunities that challenge, excite 
and stimulate young people living and visiting the Breckland district”.   
There are currently gaps in play provision across the district which the Play Forum will strive to reduce.   
From the extensive research conducted it is clear to see there is a need to improve play provision in the 
district, but that the responsibility does not lay with one organisations alone.  A partnership approach is 
the most effect way of achieving the overall aim.   
To effectively deliver on the policy aims of this strategy an action plan is required.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

56



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic Partnership Play Forum 2007 31 

 
 

11. Action Plan – 5 years  
 
Below is an action plan that will achieve the overall aims of strategy and address the policy statements.  This action plan will be reviewed annually.     
 
Key 
Short Term   18 Months:  
Medium Term   18 Months to 3 years 
Long Term  3 to 5 years 
 

Priority/Theme Links to other 
Policies 

Actions Lead agency / 
department 

Partners Time Scale 

Leadership Corporate strategy 
themes 

Encourage elected 
members to articulate the 
benefits of play provision 
for young people 

• Community and 
Culture Team  

• Town and Parish 
Councils 

• Community Groups 

 
Short Term 

Promote the importance of 
play for young people in 
terms of mental, physical 
and social development 

LSP Community 
Plan 

Maintain the LSP Play 
Forum to develop policy 
and act as a champion for 
play provision. 

• LSP 

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Breckland Council 
LSP 

• Town & Parish 
Councils 

 
Long Term 

Develop and implementing 
Open Space Standard for 
Breckland 
 

• Policy Team  

• Community and 
Culture Team  

• LSP Play Forum  
Medium 
Term 

To improve the quality and 
quantity of open space and 
play facilities within 
Breckland 

 
 
Local Development 
Framework 

Produce design guidance 
for new open space and 
play facilities 

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Planning Policy 
Team 

• LSP Play Forum 

• Norfolk Constabulary 

 
Medium 
Term 

LSP Community 
Plan 

Apply to Big Lottery for 
Children’s Play Funding 

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Community Groups September 
10th 2007 

Breckland Cultural 
Strategy 

Hold a play 
conference/exhibition for 
suppliers and project 
initiators  

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Community Groups 

• Play Companies 

• Parish & Town 
Councils 

 
November 
2007? 

Encourage and enable 
accessible play 
opportunities for local 
communities 

Breckland Cultural 
Strategy 

Provide guidance on 
technical issues, project 
planning and finance 

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Town and Parish  

• Community Groups 

 
Ongoing 

5
7



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic Partnership Play Forum 2007 32 

Growth Point 
Status 
Local Development 
Framework 
C&YPP 

Actively participate in the 
development, design and 
operation of new open 
space and play facilities  

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Planners  

• Developers 

 
Ongoing 

To work in partnership with 
key stakeholders to develop 
good play facilities 

Breckland 
Community Safety 
Strategy 

Maintain Play Forum with 
key stakeholders to ensure 
good design and 
management of open 
space and play areas 

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Police 

• Safety Team 

• PCT 

 
Ongoing 

• Breckland 
Cultural 

Strategy  

• PPG 17 

Undertake a bi-annual 
survey of young people to 
identify aspirations and 
current satisfaction 

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Children and Young 
people Partnership 

 
Medium 

Breckland Cultural 
Strategy 

To consult with parents, 
families and carers on 
quality and quantity of play 
provision 

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• Children and Young 
people Partnership 
(C&YPP) 

 
Medium 

To consult with local people 
on play opportunities and 
aspirations 

Breckland Cultural 
Strategy 

Maintain a dialog with 
Town and Parish Councils 

• Community and 
Culture Team 

• C&YPP  
Ongoing 

To protect and improve the 
quality of existing children’s 
play areas in Breckland 

• Local 
Development 
Framework 

• PPG 17 

Planning Policy to protect 
existing areas from 
redevelopment 
 

• Planning Policy 

• Development 
Control  

• Town and Parish 
Councils 

• Developers 

 
Jan 2009 

5
8



 

Breckland District Council Play Strategy in conjunction with the Breckland Local Strategic 

Partnership Play Forum 2007 
33 

 

12. Review 
 
This strategy should be reviewed in 2012.  The Action plan should be reviewed on an annual basis.   
 
 
 
 

 
 

59



  31 May 2007  

 

PD&RPanel3-WkProg&MtgSchedule 

           
Policy Development & Review Panel 3  

 
 Work Programme & Meeting Schedule 

 
 
 

Topic/Item Lead Officer (s) 20 Mar 
2007 
Thetford 

12 June 
2007  
Watton  

10 July 
2007  
Attleboro’ 

Licensing 
Arrangements  
(Gambling)  

Nigel Burrows    

Healthy Living & 
Lifestyles – PFI 
Leisure Centres 

Keith Stevens Tour of 
Leisure 
Centre 

  

Housing 
Improvement Plan – 
Qtrly Monitoring  

Anita Brennan    

Health Improvement 
Programme 
 

Martin Seymour    

Monitoring of 
Homeless Strategy 
Review Action Plan 

Polly Kane    

Review of the 
Housing Waiting List 
– Allocations Policy 

Anita Brennan    

Impact of the 
Reorganisation on 
the new PCT’s  

Martin Seymour    tbc 

Asset Management 
Plan 
 

Ray Johnson   tbc 

Big Lottery 
Children’s Play  
 

Jo Liggett    

Drugs and Alcohol 
Abuse – DAAT (1) 
 

Martin Seymour    

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) 
– Consultation  
 

Gordon Partridge    

 
 
Notes: 
(1) Bring forward to October 2007. 
Visit to Thetford Healthy Living Centre – to be scheduled in 2007. 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

60


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes - 6 March 2007

	5 Health Improvement Work Programme
	6 Big Lottery Children's Play
	Draft Play Strategy

	7 Work Programme and Future Meetings

